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VISION AND MISSION
BERED

POWERING THE eWORLD
EEN ) ERR

1
A To be a manufacturer of world-class
standard in power electronics
HERBKENTEEFEREED
R, SR
To capture global demand in innovative
VIS'gN products in the new smart economy
B#% RREESSCETHAFERNER
3

To be socially and environmentally
responsible to all stakeholders

EHERBRESTHAQFNERR

assion to improve & innovate
DEHENR KA

bligation to stakeholders
EEREEF0E

MISSION
{8 55

orld class standards & quality
SRR mE RokE

xcellence in operations
EHNEE

esponsibility to develop our people
BEAEBAT

@OEOOG
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Founded in 1983, Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is an
electronics manufacturing services (“EMS”) provider specialising
in the manufacturing and sales of customised industrial electronic
components and products, with offices in Hong Kong, Republic
of Ireland (“Ireland”) and Thailand, and production facilities in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Ireland and Thailand. The
Group’s principal subsidiary, Trio Engineering Company Limited,
is the first industrial electronics provider in Hong Kong to have
obtained Industry 4.0 level 1i certification.

“Powering the eWorld” is the Group’s corporate vision. We provide
customised engineering and contract manufacturing services for
a broad range of industries. Addressing high complexity, we offer
advanced solutions for new product introductions that meet
dynamic business needs. Our product lines include: (i) electro-
mechanical products; (ii) switch-mode power supplies; (iii) smart
chargers; and (iv) smart vending systems. Our products are
widely applied in various industrial and commercial areas, such
as renewable energy facilities, telecommunications equipment,
commercial freight equipment, medical and health care devices,
leisure and entertainment products, security and access systems,
etc..
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INFORMATION FOR OUR INVESTORS
REESZER

Financial Calendar

Financial year end 31 December 2021
Announcement of annual results 24 March 2022
Annual report and sustainability report available online 21 April 2022

e Company website: http://www.trio-ieg.com (“Investor Relations” section)

* Hong Kong Stock Exchange website: www.hkexnews.hk

Annual report dispatch date 22 April 2022
Annual general meeting 27 May 2022

Share Information

Stock Code 1710
Board Lot 4,000 shares
Market Capitalisation as at 31 December 2021 HK$172 million

Share Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address:  Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2980 1333

Facsimile: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

2021 2020
—F=—F e
HK$’000 HK$’000 Change
TR T 2%
Revenue Hzs 744,067 701,699 +6.0% N
Gross profit E= ] 139,329 182,487 -23.6% 5
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATISRLAT (B518),HF (15,495) 37,695 -141.1%
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(B8),#F (10,584) 28,881 -136.6%
(Loss)/earnings per share (in HK cents) &% (E18),/
&2 GBI
- Basic and diluted — BEARREE (1.06) 2.89 -136.7%
Dividends per share (in HK cents) RS B
~ Final — KHA - 1.20
— Interim — FRHEf - 0.80
- 2.00
Sales by Product Category for the year ended Sales by Region for the year ended 5
31 December 2021 and 2020 31 December 2021 and 2020
BE-ZE-—FR-ZB-EF+-A=+T—HLEFE BE-ZE-_—FR-ZE-EF+-A=+-HLEFE
NEmDENHEER DB E D EWHER
1.3% 3.4% 1.1%
4.4%
>
f
23.3%
24.8%
Electro-mechanical products Smart chargers O Europe o North America O The PRC (including Hong Kong) ‘4
O HEE R BenEas BoM b= PR (BEEE) S
Switch-mode power supplies Smart vending systems South-east Asia Others
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Sales per Capita™ (US$)
AIEHERE (£T)
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(1)  “Sales per capita” represents average sales per person, which (1) [A¥HEEHE] ESATFHIHEER - JHUAE 8

is calculated by dividing total sales for a particular period by the
number of employees in the same period.

Sales, Gross Profit, and Profit/(Loss) for the Year (HK$’000)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERHE

Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit/(Loss) Margin
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present
to you the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 (“FY2021”).

The operating result of the Group for FY2021 was not a
satisfactory one among the past years’ annual performance.
The revenue for FY2021 had a minor growth of 6.0% over that
of 2020, while the net result was a loss of HK$10.6 million,
comparing to a profit for the preceding year of HK$28.9 million.

There were five major elements which had hard hit the Group’s
business materially and | would like to elaborate these elements
in this statement.

The COVID-19 pandemic started somewhat around early
2020 and gradually the crisis has disrupted the global
supply chains. The material shortages were not confined
to a few items but were extended to most of our normal
purchases. Though the backlog orders on hand had
materially risen from January 2021 to December 2021, our
actual production output was hardly completed sufficiently
to meet the demands of most of our customers. This supply
chain factor had contributed the most significant portion
of the Group’s failure to keep our top line performance in
FY2021, thus the net operating result.

Definitely, the management had tackled the situation by
many means which included placing of orders to suppliers
much well in advance, stocking up of materials to safeguard
production needs in succeeding months, putting up cash
deposits or making earlier settlements to vendors to secure
supplies and the most important action was to make
spot-buys of key components after agreement with the
customers concerned. The chaotic situation had some
slight improvements in the forth quarter of FY2021 but
the management is still conservative in this area in the
ensuing year. The new Omicron variant is striking the
world with another big round of infections which could
continue to disrupt the recent mildly recovering global
supply chains to resume to the normal level before the
pandemic. There is no promising light in front of us but the
management will keep on tapping new sources of supply
while maintaining the best cooperating relationships with
our vendors. Fortunately, our customers are well aware of
the unsatisfactory supply problems and have given us their
utmost tolerance in the product deliveries to them.

AAZREBLIXETFERERAR (XD
) REWBAR (5l [XAE@]) £5 ([E
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REAEEHE T -_—F+_A=1+—H1t
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Consequent to the preceding element as said above, the
material costs of our production had soared significantly
during FY2021. There were certain arrangements with our
major customers to seek compensation for material cost
increases. However, the surging variances had to exceed
a certain range, otherwise the Group had to shoulder the
burden and absorb all the increased costs on our own
account. You may appreciate the largest factor in reducing
our gross profit margin for FY2021 in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis Section” in the later part of this
annual report.

The disruption of global supply chains was partially due to
the disordered transportation services all around the world
because of the COVID-19 crisis. Governments of different
countries and municipals have levied various stringent
measures to combat any inbound striking of the COVID-19
virus. Thus, many transportation and freight services were
inevitably torn into smaller scales and time schedules.
Labour shortage was another result of the pandemic strike
which had further hit the delivery industry widely. Under
such situation, it was obvious that transportation and freight
costs would nevertheless shoot up to certain unbelievable
levels within a short period.

The pricing of exports to our customers in Europe and the
United States was mostly under the incoterms of free on
board. However, because of the insufficient availability of
containers, our customers had not been able to secure
sufficient shipping arrangements to take the possession
of their ordered finished goods in the shortest possible
time as in the past. This had resulted in slow shipments
of finished goods, stocking up of such in our warehouse
as well as inevitable delay in raising our invoices to our
customers, thus elongating the credit and receivable days
of our outputs. On the other hand, the costs of inbound
raw materials were hit by similar reasons as said above.
The Group’s freight and transportation costs for FY2021
increased by 36.5% compared with that of 2020, even
though the revenue levels for the two years only had a
minor difference.
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Because of the adverse factors as mentioned above,
the production scheduling in our major factory in Panyu,
Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) had faced severe disruptions due to the unstable
supply of materials. Coupled with the electricity rationing in
the Guangdong Province, the PRC which mainly happened
during the second and third quarters of FY2021, the
workforce and production plans had to be re-scheduled
again and again which had resulted in longer overtime
undertaken by the workforce. As a consequence, the direct
labour costs for FY2021 had risen by 23.1% compared with
that of 2020. The gross profit margin was shadowed by a
similar percentage.

The exchange rates of RMB against USD and HKD had
experienced a stronger position during FY2021. Since
our Group’s major production was conducted in the PRC,
persisted appreciation of RMB drove up overall operating
expenses and spending of the Group throughout the year.

Going forward, the management shall stay focused on Growth,
Efficiency and Technological Advancement. Though the
COVID-19 pandemic had brought economic recession and many
unprecedented disturbances to people, the economies of most
regions had relatively gained improvements in 2021 comparing
to those in 2020. Major stock, commodity and property markets
had strong recoveries, benefited largely from the Quantitative
Easing policies adopted by major economic power. However,
year 2022 could be more difficult. The Omicron and possible
new COVID-19 variants could have even wider impacts on the
world, humans and their livings. The war in Ukraine has gravely
added many more uncertainties and disruptions to the world’s
economies. Stronger level of adversities would be expected to
further destruct the global supply chains. Top management of
entities and institutions must be even more prudent and proactive
in decision-making and action planning.
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For our Group, it is certainly not easy to look forward to a very
strong recovery of our profit performance in the near term.
However, the bitter experiences in the past two years under the
COVID-19 strike have critically strengthened the capabilities of
our personnel to “bite any bullets” when something unexpectedly
happens. On the positive side, the present backlog orders on
hand are at a much higher level than that of January 2021 which
have secured better revenue opportunities in the coming year.

Last but not the least, | must extend my great sincerity to our
employees and fellow directors. We have struggled together
through the prolonged darkness of COVID-19 to secure ourselves
in a relatively stable and developing state. We possess hopes
and capabilities to progress ahead to fulfill our Vision and
Missions. We have determined our goals and will lead to recover
the operating performance as soon as possible. And, we will
continue to work with our stakeholders to ensure betterment for
all. Environmental, social and governance is one of our priorities
in managing the business and we will work for a balanced
environment for the good of the people around us and for the
world as a whole.

Lai Yiu Wah
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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Mr. Lai Yiu Wah (%), aged 66, is the Chairman and
Executive Director, and is responsible for the corporate and
strategic development of the Group. He is also the Chairman
of the Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr.
Lai joined our Group since April 2015 and has been the Director
of the Company since 15 April 2016. He is a director of all the
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in
management consulting, finance, accountancy and taxation. He
also has wide experience in businesses including manufacturing,
catering, retailing and trading sectors.

Mr. Lai obtained a higher diploma in accountancy in November
1978 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He was admitted as a fellow of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in September
1988.

Mr. Lai served in different positions, including trainee
and supervisor, in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers) from November 1978 to August 1981,
and served in different positions, including internal auditor and
credit controller, in A.S. Watson & Co., Limited from December
1981 to June 1983. In 1983, Mr. Lai founded Thomson Y. W. Lai
& Co. Certified Public Accountants, which had been the Group’s
auditors and tax representative from August 2008 to April 2015
and from July 2008 to April 2015, respectively, before Mr. Lai was
invited to join the Group in April 2015.
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Mr. Tai Leung Lam (&, R #), aged 74, is Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Director and the Director of Manufacturing. Mr. Tai
joined the Group since October 1985 and was appointed as a
Director on 15 April 2016. He is responsible for the management,
strategic planning and development of the manufacturing division.
Mr. Tai was a director of Trio Engineering from October 1985 to
July 1987, and has been serving in the same position from July
1990 until present. He is a director of all of the subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Tai has over 45 years of experience in the electronics
industry, and specializes in the establishment and management
of production plants for electronics manufacturing.

Mr. Tai obtained a diploma in Wireless Mechanical Maintenance
without Wireless Telegraph Communication in The World Electric
Engineering College (BB A B TIZER) in March 1965.
During the period from October 1976 to 1983, Mr. Tai held
various positions in Timco Manufacturing Co. Limited (“Timco”),
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
principally engaged in electronics manufacturing. Timco was
dissolved in December 1991 as a result of creditor’s winding up.

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, aged 56, is the Executive Director of
the Company and was appointed as Head of Sales and Technical
in November 2020. He is managing the operations in Europe,
covering sales and marketing all over the world. Mr. Mac Carthy
joined the Group since March 1996 and was appointed as a
Director on 15 April 2016. He joined the Group as a consultant
in March 1996 and has been a director of Trio Engineering
since October 2003. He is a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. Before joining the Group, Mr. Mac Carthy worked
in different companies engaging in related industries. Mr. Mac
Carthy has been in the industry of design engineering for
electronic and magnetic products for over 30 years.

In 1985, Mr. Mac Carthy obtained a national certificate in
electronic engineering from Waterford Institute of Technology in
Ireland.
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Mr. Fung Chun Chung (% #), aged 79, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Risk Management Committee. Mr. Fung has over 40 years of
experience in the electronics industry.

Mr. Fung received an advanced diploma in engineering from
North-East Essex Technical College in the United Kingdom in
July 1968 and a master degree of science in engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1978. Mr. Fung was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
in January 1983, and a member of the Institution of Production
Engineers (now known as the Institution of Engineering and
Technology) in the United Kingdom in July 1971.

Mr. Fung worked as a manager of production in Transelectronics
Ltd. from June 1970 to December 1974, responsible for leading
the development of the company and training of the production
operators and staff. Mr. Fung was appointed as the chairman
of Manlion Industrial Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged
in the manufacturing of lighting products and festival items and
decorations, in October 1983, and of Packway Industries Ltd.,
a company principally engaged in the manufacturing of battery
chargers and festival items and decorations, in November
2007. In addition, Mr. Fung was the secretary of the Hong Kong
Electrical Appliance Industries Association from 2006 to 2008
and the executive committee member of group four (electrical
products) of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries from July
2005 to July 2015.
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Mr. Cheung Kin Wing (R#%8), aged 67, is an Independent
Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February 2017, and
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Cheung has substantial experience in information
technology, financial accounting, auditing and management.

Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor degree in commerce
from the University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979. He
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in May 1986 and February
2015, respectively.

From September 1980 to March 1995, Mr. Cheung held
several positions, including assistant manager, manager
and senior manager in Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He was a partner of Coopers &
Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) from March
1995 until his resignation in May 1999. Since February 1999,
Mr. Cheung has been a director and lead consultant of Sunplex
Consultants Limited, a company principally engaged in the
provision of human resources management and IT consultancy
services. He was an independent director of Principal Trust
Company (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as AXA China
Region Trustees Limited), a provider of investment and retirement
solutions, from August 1999 to August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Bank of Communications Trustee
Limited, from November 2003 to January 2018. Mr. Cheung
was a director of the finance and operations department of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants from July
2004 to April 2008 and a consultant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants from April 2008 to August 2008.
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Mr. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of
BaWang International (Group) Holding Limited, (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1338), ENM Holdings
Limited (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 128), and Kin Pang Holdings Limited (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1722). Mr. Cheung
also joined Self Strengthening Service Centre Limited (& 38 R
AR A F]) (an NGO to help the underprivileged) as a director
on a voluntary basis in September 2019.

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam (E&&), aged 67, is the
Independent Non-executive Director appointed on 10 February
2017, and is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Wong has
over 30 years of experience in financial management, treasury,
internal control and investment in the commercial field.

Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director of
Wenzhou Kangning Hospital Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2120), from April 2015 to June
2016. From January 1997 to June 2007 and from July 2009 to
December 2016, Mr. Wong served as an executive director of
SOCAM Development Limited (“SOCAM”), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 983) and a member of the Shui
On Group, a group principally engaged in property development
and construction in Hong Kong and the PRC. He also took up
the role of chief financial officer from July 2009 to December
2016 and assumed the role of managing director of SOCAM
from July 2013 to December 2016. During his tenure with
SOCAM, he was primarily responsible for financial, treasury and
legal and secretarial functions, corporate restructuring, mergers
and acquisitions, investment decisions, investor relationships
and corporate governance matters. In March 2007, Mr. Wong
was appointed an executive director of China Central Properties
Ltd., an affiliated company of SOCAM, which was listed on the
London Stock Exchange. Following the privatisation of China
Central Properties Ltd. in June 2009, he rejoined SOCAM. From
1992 to 1995, Mr. Wong served as the finance director of the
Shui On Group. Mr. Wong is currently a director of the Ronald
McDonald House Charities and a deputy chairman of the Hong
Kong Sea Cadet Corps.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the City
of London Polytechnic (now known as London Metropolitan
University) in June 1976. He is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Lai Sek Piu (2$51Z), aged 62, is the Head of Manufacturing
Division and Innovation Development Division and is responsible
for the management and supervision of the Group’s innovation
and development. Mr. Lai is a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Starting from 1 January 2019, Mr. Lai has also
been a Joint Managing Director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. On 21 January 2020, he was further appointed as
the Managing Director of Trio-Tronics (Thailand) Limited to take
charge of the operations and management of production facilities
in Thailand. He has over 35 years of experience in the field of
manufacturing and engineering.

Mr. Lai completed a three years’ part-time course in electronic
engineering at Kasetsart University in Thailand in July 1993.

Mr. Lai worked as a section manager in Capetronic International
(Thailand) Public Company Limited in Thailand, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution and
provision of after-sales services for computer monitors in
Thailand, from August 1988 to February 1997. He joined the
Group as an engineer in November 1998 and a general manager
of manufacturing division in April 2007, and has been the director
of Innovation and Development Division since January 2018.

Mr. Lo Ka Kei Jun (B%#), aged 43, is the Director of the
Marketing Division and is responsible for the management and
supervision of the Group’s marketing. Mr. Lo is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Starting from 1 January
2019, Mr. Lo has also been a Joint Managing Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has 18 years of experience
in international marketing and business development in the
electronics industry.

Mr. Lo obtained a higher national diploma in business and
marketing in July 2001 and a bachelor of arts degree in business
management in September 2002 from the Southampton
Institute in the United Kingdom. He obtained a master degree
in management and a master degree in business administration
from Macquarie University in Australia in November 2013 and
December 2014, respectively.
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Mr. Lo worked in Apogee International Limited, a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing of electronic products
and audio and innovative designed items, as a marketing
executive from June 2003 and an assistant marketing manager
from May 2005 to October 2005. He joined the Group as a
marketing executive in February 2006 and the general manager
of the Marketing Division since September 2012, and has been
the director of the Marketing Division since January 2018.

Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby (R3%X%), aged 38, is the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary. She is responsible for overall financial
management and company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Wan obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) in Accounting
from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Shue Yan College) in July 2006 and a Master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2012. She is an Associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries), and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).
Ms. Wan has over 10 years of experience in audit and assurance,
financial management, and corporate governance.

Ms. Wan joined the Group as the Assistant Financial Controller
in March 2015 and the Group Financial Controller since January
2018. She has also taken up the role of Company Secretary of
the Company since 1 January 2019 and has been appointed as
the Chief Financial Officer with effect from 1 March 2021.

Mr. Shahpour Javanmard Emamghissi, aged 65, is the
Director of Project Development and is responsible for business
development in the European market and supervision of the
product designs. He has over 32 years of experience in the
electronic engineering industry and specialises in manufacturing,
quality control and business development management.

Mr. Emamghissi obtained a higher national diploma in electrical
and electronic engineering from Liverpool Polytechnic (now
known as Liverpool John Moores University) in the United
Kingdom for session 1980/1981 and subsequently received
a diploma in electrical and electronic engineering from Leeds
Polytechnic (now known as Leeds Beckett University) in the
United Kingdom in June 1982 and a postgraduate diploma in
manufacturing management and technology from the Open
University in the United Kingdom in July 1997.
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After leaving college, Mr. Emamghissi worked on Automation
projects with Micro Systems Control until January 1984. He
joined Denis Ferranti Group in February 1984 as an Electronics
Engineer. During his 19 years with Ferranti Group, he held
a number of positions (Electronic design and test engineer,
Project and Telecom Engineering Manager). In 2003, he joined
Eaton Electrical Part of Eaton Corporation USA, a manufacturer
of electrical distribution equipment, circuit breakers and safety
products in the United Kingdom as Project/Process Manager.
Between November 2003 to April 2005, he worked as an
engineering project manager in Dolgarrog Aluminium Limited. In
November 2005, he joined Lake Communications Ltd holding
the position of offshore manufacturing and quality manager.
Lake Communications designs and supplies Telecom products
throughout Europe and the US. During the period from December
2011 to December 2015, Mr. Emamghissi worked as a consultant
for Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy, and provided support to the sales
activities in Europe as well as technical support to the customers
therein. He formally joined the Group as the director of project
development in January 2016.

Ms. Wu Mo Man (#HX), aged 43, is the Director of the
Marketing Division, responsible for the management and
supervision of the Marketing Division.

Ms. Wu obtained a diploma in management in December 2003
from the University of Leicester, and a master degree in business
administration from the University of lowa in May 2019.

She joined the Group in March 2006 as Marketing Executive
and was promoted to Marketing Manager in 2009 until she left
in June 2011. From June 2012 to April 2014, Ms. Wu worked in
Fuji Xerox (H.K.) Limited as sales planning executive and assisted
in pipeline, sales and marketing data analysis and presented the
pre-sale & sales performance. In December 2014, she rejoined
the Group as Marketing Manager and has been the director of
the Marketing Division since January 2019. Ms. Wu has over
19 years of experience in the procurement and supply chain
development in the electrical and mechanical industry, as well as
sales planning and international marketing business development
in the electronics industry.
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It has been over two years since the outbreak of coronavirus
disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) began, which wreaked tremendous
havoc on lives, livelihoods, and the global economy. With the
availability of COVID-19 vaccines for widespread injection,
economic activities are on the path towards global recovery.
While the COVID-19 pandemic remains lingering, the Group
recorded a 6.0% increase in revenue to HK$744.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, thanks to the continued increase
in customer demands and temporary alleviation of certain material
supplies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, soaring material costs
and escalating freight and transportation charges have put huge
pressures on the Group’s profitability. Gross profit margin for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was 18.7%, reduced by 7.3
percentage points compared with that of 2020. The increase
in labour costs and appreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”) added
another vast layer of adversity to an already gravely challenging
environment and resulted in the Group to have a loss of HK$10.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as opposed to a
profit of HK$28.9 million for the same period of 2020.

The Group has mobilised a number of measures, including
but not limited to the stock-up of certain critical components,
diversification of material sourcing, use of alternative materials,
early shipment booking, etc. to secure its production and order
fulfilment. The COVID-19 crisis and US-China trade tensions have
highlighted the importance of supply chain diversification. The
production facilities in Ireland and Thailand provide the Group
with a high degree of flexibility to serve customers worldwide and
diversify the risk of supply chain disruption whilst the production
efficiencies of these facilities have yet to attain the optimum level
due to COVID-19 disruptions.

The Group’s order backlog stays strong which has reflected
growing demands accelerated by digital transformation and
automation. The Group had successfully bid the leasing of two
factory buildings alongside the existing production base in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) during the reporting
period. It is expected that the factory buildings will come
into operations in the year ahead, which will enhance the
Group’s production capacities to accommodate large volume of
production on high-value and heavy-duty product series once the
global economy is back on track from the pandemic.
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The following table summarises the amount of revenue generated
and as a percentage of total revenue from each product category
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”) and 2020
(“FY2020”), respectively:

TERBASERNEIIRBE_T-_—F
(ZZ2=—5UBRFE]) AT _TF (=%
“EEMBREE]) A=+ —BIEFEME
ERBESBREBREADLL

FY2020
—EEFPRFE
HK$’000 %
FAET %
Electro-mechanical products HE = 323,166 46.0
Smart chargers BoerE R 173,965 24.8
Switch-mode power supplies FEER 153,430 21.9
Smart vending systems BHEBRR 47,478 6.8
Others” H o 3,660 0.5
Total Bzt 701,699 100.0
Note: Kzt -

(1) Others include automatic testing equipment (“ATE”), power switch
gear boards, and catering equipment control boards.

The Group recorded a 6.0% increase in revenue to HK$744.1
million for FY2021 from HK$701.7 million for FY2020. Revenue
from electro-mechanical products was HK$331.5 million for
FY2021, representing a rise of 2.6% compared with that of 2020.
Such increase in revenue mainly resulted from continued increase
in customer demands on security and access control systems
and water filtration products. Revenue from smart vending
systems for FY2021 went up by HK$22.7 million compared with
that of 2020 following the temporary alleviation of supply chain
challenges brought by COVID-19. The Group’s revenue growth,
however, has been adversely affected by severe disruption of
global supply chains and prolonged material shortage, affecting
its ability to meet customers’ demands.
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The table below summarises the geographical revenue segment
based on location of customers for FY2021 and FY2020,

TERAFNBERR B —FHRFER_T =
ZEMBRFEREPUED AMIEWE D

respectively: I
FY2020
—ETFYRER
HK$’000 %
FET %

Europe® B 553,381 78.9

North America® i@ 101,590 14.5

The PRC (including Hong Kong) FE (BEER) 30,796 4.4

South-east Asia® E L) 9,763 1.4

Others® Hih@ 6,169 0.8

Total Bt 701,699 100.0

Notes: Biat -

(1)  Europe includes Austria, Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, (1) B \)”_Eiﬁ B 'J RMF - FFE - Ai// }Té
France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, CEINESN DA = ) i @EHLL +
Norway, Poland, Portugal, Serbia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, fﬁﬁ /E:j(ﬂ EARE - WAL &Eﬁ : %%mﬁ[ :
Switzerland, the Netherlands, and the UK. ERMED - HORR - AT mE - Kt

EMREE -

(@) North America includes the US. 2 EXMEEEEE-

(3)  South-east Asia includes Malaysia and Singapore. (3) REII B ISR M I o

(4)  Others include Australia, Israel, Japan and Taiwan. (4)  EHaimEM  UEed) - BARREE -

Europe and North America continued to be the major markets of ~ EX :9‘|\| Mt EEEERASE l MEBHmiE N

the Group which in aggregate accounted for 95.1% and 93.4% of T - —FHBFEL_—_T_-F iﬁﬁﬂlir Al

total revenue for FY2021 and FY2020, respectively. Revenue from & /\15 U 95.1% K 93.4% o =% 7—$

European market for FY2021 went up by 11.4% compared with S BFERABMTIZHRER T T F5F

that of 2020 mainly due to growing sales from smart chargers
and smart vending systems following the temporary alleviation
of certain material supplies. Revenue from North American and
Chinese markets for FY2021, however, reduced by 9.7% and
18.0%, respectively. The decrease mostly resulted from unstable
supply of materials with fluctuated prices which distorted the
Group’s production and product delivery.

1. 4% CEEARE TR EEREEEM
% BREREERNELRETZRANEE BRI

EATE - A RZE-—FHBRFEKRALL
ERFEMSHRED B A.7%K%18.0% °
ZRBEZEHRMRHETEE RERKEE
BASEAEERERRNZEEEME -
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The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised direct materials,
direct labour costs, and manufacturing overheads. Cost of
sales for FY2021 went up by 16.5% to HK$604.7 million from
HK$519.2 million for FY2020. The upsurge in cost of sales is a
combination of: (i) soaring material costs arising from prolonged
material shortage worldwide; (i) higher labour costs as a result of
the re-arrangement of production activities following the electricity
rationing in Guangdong province, the PRC and unstable supply
of materials; (iii) increased carriage inwards and delivery lead
time derived from container shortages and COVID-19 control
measures taken by the governments around the world; and (iv)
the inclusion of operating costs from the production facility in
Thailand during the reporting period.

The Group’s gross profit was HK$139.3 million for FY2021,
representing a decrease of 23.7% compared with that of 2020.
Gross profit margin diminished by 7.3 percentage points to
18.7% for FY2021 from 26.0% for FY2020 as the adverse
impacts on cost of sales were greater than the growing revenue.

Other income, net was HK$3.2 million for FY2021, dropped
by 8.0% compared with that of 2020. Such change primarily
attributed to: (i) the reduction in government grants by HK$2.7
million from COVID-19 relief measures; and (ii) the net fair value
loss of HK$0.5 million from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. The decrease in other income, net, however, was
partly offset by reduced loss on foreign exchange by HK$1.5
million and increased scrap material sales income by HK$1.2
million during the reporting period.

Included in selling and distribution expenses were primarily: (i)
freight, insurance, and transportation charges, (i) custom duties
and declaration charges, (iii) sales commission, and (iv) marketing
and promotion expenses. There was a 23.2% increase in selling
and distribution expenses to HK$16.1 million for FY2021 from
HK$13.1 million for FY2020. The disruption of global supply
chains distorted the material lead time and product shipment,
pushing up the Group’s freight and transportation charges during
the reporting period.

AEBNHERAIEBREEEDRE - 5
BIRAREERER RZZEZ—FHPHREE
) 8 & 5k AN 5604,700,0008 70 M- T - F
FH B E #9519,200,000 7T HN16.5% © 4
ERAEATBARTISENGEZEMN
(EERMEHF B ERESM B A EH ()P =
EREEHRNBRERMEHETETEREE
EHLTHNAE AMEAERS NS TRA
(i ERE R L 2R S B HEACOVID-19%
TSI BUEE MR EREEN . RivRHRE
BN ARBIEER A EIERA -

AEBR-_Z-_—FHRFEDNETHN A
139,300,000/870 * M-ZE T FH23.7% °
FEANER T _ZFURFERN26.0%77.3
EENHE—_T-_—FHRFEMNI87% ' It
THEREEENEAN T2 BB REIE R
@( °

RZEZ—FUBRFENEMBRAFESL
3,200,000 T R_E_FFHPHRFERD
8.0% - BEEEE HEEZHMN : ()ECOVID-19
TR T E 1S 8 T 4 B R 22,700,000
T MVEATFESABRENESREEESE
A F1E & 1B F B500,00078 7T o A1 - E AUk
ANFEERVRE D B BB 0 4 7 2R 5 BRI Y SINE B5 18
B 1,500,000/ 7T & B ) k) 8 & U A 8 0
1,200,000/ T T 38 ©

HERDHERETERE: ()58« R KLE
BE - ()VSEBEHEREE - (iEEMS &iv)
MEHEREERY - HERDIHEAHR T
— TR HFE 13,100,000 JT 1 1123.2%
E-FT - —FHHRFEM6,100,000E T - &
Kt EREPHYEMERERENERTEE
EfmReAEERNRERNNEERERE -

Annual Report 2021 FfE &



Administrative expenses grew by 6.7% from HK$121.9 million
for FY2020 to HK$130.1 million for FY2021. Such increase in
administrative expenses was mainly due to: (i) the appreciation
of RMB against other currencies drove up overall operating
expenses; (i) the rise in staff salaries and allowances arising
from annual pay increment and additional allowances paid to the
Group'’s staff in Hong Kong and the PRC in support of operations
in Thailand; and (jii) the absorption of running expenses from the
production facility in Thailand.

Other operating expenses, net went down by 27.1% from
HK$6.7 million for FY2020 to HK$4.9 million for FY2021 mainly
due to the gain on derivative financial instruments of HK$0.8
million and the absense of provision for impairment loss on trade
receivables during the reporting period. The decrease in other
operating expenses, net, however, was partially offset by the rise
in impairment loss and write-off of obsolete inventories.

Finance expenses, net rose by 6.1% from HK$6.5 million for
FY2020 to HK$6.8 million for FY2021. A general increase in bank
charges and reduction in bank interest incomes contributed to
the growth in finance expenses, net during the reporting period.

There was an income tax credit of HK$4.9 million for FY2021
primarily due to the reversal of overprovision of income tax
expenses in the prior years, and the recognition of deferred tax
credits arising from tax losses during the reporting period.

The Group reported a loss of HK$10.6 million for FY2021, as
opposed to a profit of HK$28.9 million for FY2020. The loss for
the year reflected the combined impacts of (i) escalating material
costs due to prolonged shortage of components worldwide; (ii)
soaring freight and transportation charges derived from severe
disruption of global supply chains; (iii) growing direct labour costs
and staff salaries and allowances due to the multiple waves
of COVID-19 and additional allowances paid to the Group’s
staff in Hong Kong and the PRC to support the operations in
Thailand; (iv) overall increase in operating expenses driven by the
appreciation of RMB; and (v) the inclusion of running costs from
the production facility in Thailand.

TERASY AT T FHMEFE 121,900,000
BILENTRE T —FHHEEN
130,100,000/ 7L - BT A EIMEE H
B OARE S EMIINEFEERERELERN
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MAREREERTENE TXREINERM
BHETHe RN EA KK IERBEEE
FHEHEIER S FTEL -

Hih RLB T FEH _E _EFHREED
6,700,000/ TTH 227 1% % —F = —F B FE
[E£ /94,900,000 T * JhEZARRHTEHAITE
£ @ T AIz5800,0008 T R W EELEE 5 I
REREBERBRE - A - EMEEmt
FRERR L E B W ET ERER B KA
HANFTIREY o

VAL FERA S _EFURFEN
6,500,000/ T MN6.1%E — T~ —FE K F
[£ /96,800,000 7T - R EEIA @ SRITIWEE
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i #128,900,00078 7T © G A EIE AR A T & 18
MGEAFE | (V2T EE R A B B
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During FY2021, the Group’s operation and capital requirements
were financed principally through a combination of cash flows
generated from the operating activities, proceeds from the listing
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
23 November 2017 (the “Listing”) and bank borrowings. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of
HK$265.4 million (2020: HK$292.3 million), including cash and
bank balances (including restricted bank deposits) of HK$68.9
million (2020: HK$105.4 million). The cash and bank balances
(including restricted bank deposits) are mainly denominated in
HKS$, United States Dollars (“US$”), RMB, Euros (‘EUR”) and Thai
Baht (“THB”). The Group’s current ratio (as calculated by current
assets divided by current liabilities) decreased from 2.8 times as
at 31 December 2020 to 2.1 times as at 31 December 2021.
Gearing ratio is calculated by net debt divided by total capital
as at the end of reporting period. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less cash and bank balances, while total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt, where applicable. As at 31
December 2021, the gearing ratio was not applicable (“N/A”) to
the Group (2020: N/A) as the Group had sufficient working capital
level from the net proceeds received from the Listing.

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
(i) market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), (i) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC, Thailand,
and lreland. Entities within the Group are exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to HK$, RMB, THB, and EUR. Foreign
exchange risk arises from export sales, purchases, other future
commercial transactions and monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency.
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The management of the Company has set up a policy to require
the Group to manage their foreign exchange risk against its
functional currencies. It manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movements of foreign currency rates and
will consider to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to
reduce the exposure should the need arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had
entered into certain forward foreign exchange contracts with a
bank and a gain on derivative financial instruments of HK$0.8
million (2020: nil) was recognised at the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. All forward foreign exchange contracts
had expired as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, no new forward foreign exchange
contracts had been entered into by the Group (2020: nil).

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group does not adopt any interest
hedging strategy.

During FY2021 and FY2020, all bank borrowings of the Group
were arranged at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has bank borrowings of
HK$10.4 million (2020: HK$8.8 million), which are primarily
denominated in HK$ and US$.
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The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to financial
instruments, financial assets at fair value through profits or loss,
trade and other receivables, deposits, time deposits and cash
deposited at banks.

In respect of time deposits and cash deposited at banks, the
credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies.

The management of the Group makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of the overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are any
disputes with the debtors. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the management is of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been made in the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the customer bases were widely
dispersed despite that 13.3% (2020: 21.2%) of the trade
receivable were due from the Group’s largest customer and
72.2% (2020: 62.4%) were due from the five largest customers
determined on the same basis.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure
at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of these
investments.

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecast takes into consideration the Group’s
debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if applicable
external regulatory or legal requirements — for example, currency
restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources including
orderly realisation of short-term financial assets and receivables;
and long-term financing including long-term borrowings. The
Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
bank balances, committed credit lines available and interest-
bearing borrowings which enable the Group to continue its
business in the foreseeable future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBENWR DN

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group’s capital expenditure on property, plant
and equipment contracted for but not yet incurred as
at 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$42,000 (2020:
HK$1,473,000).

(b)  The Group has lease contracts that are committed but have
not yet commenced as at 31 December 2021. The future
lease payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts
are approximately HK$136,473,000 (2020: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during FY2021. The share capital of the Company only comprises
ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 1,000,000,000
shares in issue (2020: 1,000,000,000 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any significant
investments (2020: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions nor disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2021
(2020: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 November 2017 (the “Prospectus”) or otherwise in this
annual report, the Group currently has no other plan for material
investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 (2020: nil).
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During FY2021, there had been no material change in the Group’s
funding and treasury policies. The Group has a sufficient level
of cash and banking facilities for the conduct of its trade in the
normal course of business.

The management of the Group closely reviews the trade
receivable balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing
basis and only trade with creditworthy parties. The management
of the Group carefully monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and commitments can meet its funding requirements to manage
liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2021, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to HK$9.1 million (2020: HK$8.8
million), property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$24.9
million (2020: HK$21.7 million) and bank deposits amounted
to HK$6.1 million (2020: HK$6.1 million) had been charged as
security for the bank borrowings of the Group.

The total number of employees were approximately 1,500 as at
31 December 2021 (2020: approximately 1,500). The Group’s
employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries, overtime
payment and discretionary bonus, other staff benefits and
contributions to retirement schemes.

For FY2021, the Group’s total employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ emoluments) amounted to HK$179.0 million
(2020: HK$161.5 million). Remuneration is determined with
reference to the qualification, experience and work performance,
whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is generally subject
to work performance, the financial performance of the Group in
that particular year and general market conditions.

The Group operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible Directors and employees of the Group, who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. No share options were
granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme
during FY2021. As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have
any outstanding share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme (2020: nil).

RIZ-—FRRFE  AEENRE MEK
BRUBEARE - AEEAFTEKFNR
ERRITEE  UWHEE-—REBBEPET
BHEE -

AEEEREBRHETYRTE S RPGRIALR
MEMaRES  YRERAFENEGHIE
TES AKEEREERERAKENRE
B UWERAKENEE - BEKAE
MRBESRBAMEERER R - NEER
BESAR -

RZZE-—F+-_A=+—H8 " &AFE
ABZE/NSEEE100,0008 T (ZF =
= : 8,800,000 7)) ME - BENMEB
24,900,000/ 7T (= & = & 4 : 21,700,000/%
7C) WA X §R 47 1% 546,100,000 ;L (Z 2 - =
4 16,100,000/ 70) KEHEIF - (EAAREEIR
TTERRER -

RZEZ—F+=—fA=+—RHAHXER1,500
ZREE (ZZT_TF : #1,5008) - KEEH
EEGAFAITEZAETS  MEITERBE
TE4T ~ EfhiE B RORIRET ISR -

R-IE-_—FUREE  AEBEERABEX
wEE (BIEEEME) A179,000,000% 7T (=
T T4 1 161,500,000870) - HEMM T ILEE
MEARE KB ETHERBETET  MBBLEL—
BETIERE ASBRETCFENTHE

RAREBMSIRAMETE

AEEEE—ABRESE ((BRETS))
R LR AAEERE ZRNBEERZ
FEEEEREENER R -_FT-_—FHK

FREK - RZB-_—F+-A=+—H K

5 B0 B ) R IR O AT 81 IR B R 8 RT3
BRE (T _FF  E)-

Annual Report 2021 FfE &



The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then Shareholder on 27 October 2017.
A summary of the Share Option Scheme was set out in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
such requirements. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group had complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable to the Group in all
material respects during FY2021.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) for the disclosure of
information and corporate governance in all material respects.

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to
identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its
operational activities in order to minimise these impacts if
possible.

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions applicable
to the Group and regularly reviews the existing staff benefits for
improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and develops
long term and stable relationships with suppliers. During FY2021,
there was no material dispute nor disagreement between the
Group and its suppliers.
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The following sets out a comparison of the business strategies
as stated in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business
progress for FY2021 and up to the date of this annual report:

Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BIRER T A R

TXEHIR -ZE - —FHBREERBERNER
BE BREEMFNEBERBERNEEHBR
EBER IR

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXFHRAMNERERER

Continue to expand the customer base in the
European market and explore new markets in the
PRC, the US and other Asian countries

FERERBMNTSEPENUARERE B REMW
EMBE RIS

Despite physical sales and marketing activities
were put on hold due to travel restrictions amidst
COVID-19, the Group’s marketing team made all-
out effort to explore potential markets and support
existing customers through digital and virtual means
to maintain organic growth. The COVID-19 pandemic
has accelerated digital transformation and automation,
stimulating the global demands on medical and
health care products, automation and self-service
equipment, and smart charging solutions. The Group
successfully approached related customers in Europe
and the US, some of which have placed trial orders
and mass productions are expected to materialise in
the year ahead. The Group will continue to put more
resources on sales and marketing activities to capture
these business opportunities.

& & RCOVID- 19HHF?§FEE’Jﬁfﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘é%&
EIARHBAGFE - EAKRENEHEER S N ARRA
BT 5 L@ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁtikﬁﬁ%ﬁ e i 4
FFEAER - COVID-19Z BEMNREIFEE & 581t -

femws2REBRELREER BBERADARE
AR EZREMARTRNFNR - REBRINEIRBIMN K&

XENHEEEP  HPETEFPE TESEE @ Al
BRAKR-—FERUELE - AEBBHESRNEZE
RRHE R EHES - AEEGELRHH -
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

IR E R A B T R RE

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

Manufacture products of higher value and/or with
higher profit contribution per the resources

REREEBERS R I BEERRSNER

Continue to expand the operations in ATE business
segment

HEEXBBCRBIREES

Strengthen the sales and marketing efforts in the
industrial electronic manufacturing services sector

MEBTEETFRERBAANOHEREHENE

The Group’s profitability and order fulfillment has
been hit by an upsurge in production costs driven
by material shortages, supply chain disruption and
increased labour costs. The Group has put in place
various measures to mitigate the adverse effects, but
remained vulnerable to higher material prices with
limited supplies. In response, price adjustments have
been made to alleviate its cost pressures, if possible.
PR R R SR T K A5 TR RIS NS B A AR
- HAEENEFENRITEROERITE - A5H
EHESBERARETHNTEE  BNESXIIREMH
JEEVIEHER EIRMTE - EREIE - BREETARE
VASR AT B8R ER BRI AR JEE ) o

Multiple waves of COVID-19 and uncertain economic
environment have adversely affected the business
sentiment, curtailing customers’ demands for ATEs.
Some companies, if not all, have become more
conservative on project development and put on hold
their capital investment. As such, the Group continued
to re-assign its ATEs talents to support its existing
businesses and strengthen its capability in power
electronics.

IR BUKCOVID-19R 5 R G BRE T AR HER
RAERTHMTE - WHISEFEHE BB ERAIRED
Tk oy (BIFE2H) ARIEEHERBETEEFES
RF - WEEEFEHERKRE - At XEBEESHH
EBBBARBAT UXEARBER KGR E
TEEBNEFHTHEBIEET -

With travel restrictions, the Group’s European team
could only resolve to digital and virtual means for
marketing and promotion. Even so, they worked
closely with existing marketing teams in Hong Kong
and the PRC to offer various service supports to
customers and prepare for a rebound from the
COVID-19 pandemic.

MR HITRE - A& B EBUM B B R 82 LA SRS R E#E 5
RETEHMMEE - @BEN - BREERRBEREERSR
B EHBBRETAE EERTFPRESERSE X
1 YR ATCOVID-19Z 5 E BT M -
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB E R A T KRG

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

Further enhance the production efficiency and
expand the production capacity

As disclosed in announcements of the Company
dated 23 April 2021, 22 June 2021, 15 December
2021 and 18 March 2022, and the circular of the
Company dated 26 July 2021, the Group had on 8
May 2021 and 30 June 2021, respectively, entered
into tenancy agreements with Shiji Cooperative
Economic Association of Dongchong Town, Nansha
District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province*
(EREEMNTEYRFBEAERND G ELER
&#t) (the “Landlord”) (collectively, the “Tenancy
Agreements”) for the leasing of two respective factory
buildings situated at No. 17 and No. 37, Dongchong
Section, Shinan Highway. Shiji Village, Dongchong
Town, Nansha District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC* (FBIEREEMME AR HE
AENTEAKFRBE17M375) (collectively, the
“Factory Buildings”). The entering into of the
Tenancy Agreements will allow the Group to increase
its production capacity by expanding its production
plant at the Factory Buildings. The expansion plan to
be implemented in its existing production base would
create synergy, minimise logistics and administrative
costs and maximise production efficiency. Since the
Landlord required additional time to obtain requisite
approvals, permits and certificates for the Factory
Buildings, the date of delivery was extended to on
or before 28 February 2022. As disclosed in the
announcement dated 18 March 2022, the Landlord was
still actively processing the necessary procedures and
the date of delivery would be further extended to on or
before 30 April 2022. The respective rent-free renovation
periods under the Tenancy Agreements would also be
further extended to end on a date which is 1.5 months
from the actual date of delivery accordingly. Details of
the leasing of the Factory Buildings are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 23 April 2021,
22 June 2021, 15 December 2021 and 18 March 2022,
respectively, and the circular of the Company dated 26
July 2021.
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

IR E R A B T R RE

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

E—HREEEREREAER

WOARRAAE TS —FHA-+=H ZFT=—
FRAZ+=ZH 2B F+-_A+HBR=ZZE=_—
F=ZA+NBZAMUARARTBAE-TE-_—F £ A
ZHRAZBHAKE  AEESFNR=_ZE=_—FHA
NBERZZEZ—FSA=-t+HEEREEMTEL @R
REAERNEIELEB S ([ZEX] FTLHEER
& (o (HERE)  AHEREIRAE (FfE [T
BMAE]) SRR FEEREEMNTRELEFEEER
ENTEABRBBRI7TEI7TIHR - sl L HEHH G 2
AEEFBERENTRAENEERFIEMEER -
REBREEEEMETHRIEREFEIERHRBE &K
REHEEDRRITHRAR - REAREMIESEER
R MRZETTEHIGEENTIMAEH LS
ECHFAREE  BRXNBEHEERE_ZE-_—_F_A8
—tNAHSZH c MARRBHAZT-_F=ZA+N
B AMGEE  ZEZFDNEEGEERMSRESF - Bt
RN BEEE—FEE T - —FMA=+HKZAH
HEMETSANEHREHTBAEEE—FPLERE
BERZ N ESHRT15EAEH1EE A - HETHA
EZHBORENARRERAE-_E-—FMNA-+=
H —Z-—%XA=-+=-H  —Z-—%F+-A+H
ARZZE_—_F=A+N\B2z2RH  UAREARRBHA
ZEZ—FHAZHRNBZBEHN o

On the one hand, the Group’s production facility in
Ireland was still brought to a standstill by COVID-19.
On the other hand, the production facility in Thailand
had commenced operations in the first half of 2021
but the production efficiency remained behind the
expected levels due to COVID-19. Despite this, the
Group will continue to allocate resources in support
of these production facilities to enhance production
efficiency and capabilities.

—HHE - ARERE BB EEREECOVID-19MM
HiEgE - 5— W RENEERER_ZT_—F L
FEBLKERBKRAEE  BEHRRCOVID-19 - £EKE
MERTBEIKE - @EWY - AEENBEESBLEIR
XEZEEERM  NESEERERERR -
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Business strategies as stated in the Prospectus

BB E R A T KRG

Actual business progress up to the date of this
annual report

BEXAFHRANNERELER

Continue to recruit talents and professionals

HEBEREEFAS NEEAL

The Group strives to transform the strategic talent
centre (“STC”) in the Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC as the innovation and development
hub to recruit and nurture a pool of talents to conduct
various innovative and technological projects, like
remote working, warehouse digitalisation, cyber
security, and so on. As at 31 December 2021, there
were ten employees working at STC to provide a
wide range of value-added services to the Group.
The management of the Group will continue to recruit
talents of the necessary level and number at STC for
providing various supports to the Group.

REBEB DAL B ERE BN EBE AL F O
(TEmE A s ) FT3E R BI 3T R 3 R AR AR - 4R 38 Ik
B—HES A DUETEEAE RBHRIER - flanEig
T - REEFERBREE2E -HRE_—F+_H
=t—B BEBATHLETREE  ARKERMHE
RHIEERSE - AEEERESEEREMTEENE
ENATMALEBATHRL  REAEERHEES
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The following table sets forth the status of use of net proceeds FXRIEH LTHAEBRIBEFEA S - —F+=
from the Listing as at 31 December 2021 and the expected A=+—HBHRERBRALRSHAMERERR

timeline of the use of the unutilised proceeds: K TE HARF I % -
The actual
net proceeds
prior to the
reallocation
approved by Expected
the Board on timeline of
25 October full utilisation
2019 (the of the balance
“Reallocation”) The actual Incurred as at
REZER net proceeds up to 31 December
“E-hE subsequent 31 December  Balance as at 2021
+A=+%R to the 2021 31 December RZE=-%
HEEHFAR Reallocation Bz 2021  tZR=t-H
Business strategies as (2528 & The  REFAEA 25z~ R-B=-F Ze8R
set out in the Prospectus ERFE  Reallocation EBfE +ZB=t-B fZB=1-H GERnEL
ARERMENER KR HERE ENOR FERE B8 k-] KE%

HK$’ million HK$’ million HKS$’ million HK$’ million HKS$’ million
BEET FEAT BEET FEET BEET

Development of new production base 778 - 778 (33.8) 440 End of 2023
ERIEERN ZEIZER
Upgrading of existing production facilities 45 - 45 (4.5) - N/A
ARRAEERE Bli
Establishment of offices in Dublin, Ireland and

Paris, France 11.3 8.3 3.0 8.0 - N/A
EERRBONRAECRRURER il
Establishment of the STC in Guangzhou City,

Guangdong Province, the PRC 11.3 (5.0) 6.3 6.3 - N/A
TErEAERE EMTRUERAL R AR
Working capital and other general corporate

pUrposes 5.1 - 5.1 ) - N/A
SEESREL-ROLME iR
Business developments and operations in Europe - 133 13.3 (13.2) 0.1 End of 2022
EBMENEBERREE “TOER

110.0 - 110.0 (65.9) 441
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The unutilised net proceeds have been deposited in interest-
bearing bank accounts with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The
Board closely monitors the use of net proceeds with reference
to those disclosed in the Prospectus and the announcement of
the Company dated 25 October 2019 as to the change in use of
proceeds from the Listing. Due to the uncertain economic and
market conditions, driven by the multiple waves of COVID-19 and
geopolitical uncertainties, the Group’s plans for the development
of new production base in the PRC and business developments
and operations in Europe have been deferred. The remaining
portion of the net proceeds are expected to be utilised up to the
financial year ending 31 December 2023. The expected timeline
of full utilisation is based on the Directors’ best estimation barring
unforeseen circumstances, and would be subject to change
based on the future development of market conditions.

The global economy showed signs of slight recovery in 2021
following the growing take-up rate of COVID-19 vaccines plus
booster shots. Worldwide material shortage, supply chain
disruption, and fluctuation of RMB remain the Group’s major
concerns in the year ahead and ever. The rapid spread of new
COVID-19 variants across the world and the recent Russia-
Ukraine conflict aggravated soaring material prices, longer lead
times, and currency shocks, which cast considerable doubts
about the sustainability of global recovery going forward. The
COVID-19-induced contraction in economic activities and
geopolitical uncertainties have distorted global product supplies
and demands, driving up overall price levels. This poses a
dilemma for the global monetary authorities whether to raise the
interest rates to tackle the surge in inflation or keep interest rates
steady to safeguard the recovery.

Regardless of the unavoidable headwinds, the Group will stay
in close contact with suppliers and customers to mitigate the
adverse effects brought by aforesaid challenges. What does not
kill us, makes us stronger. The Group will continue to maintain
its positive vibes to address these issues and enhance its core
competencies to pave the way for future business opportunities.

REAMMERIBFRELCTFRIEEBFER
TR ERITEREFPAN EBRSL2ERBRERR
ARRIBAE-_E—NEF+A-_+HBEEE
WETABRERENAMAEENRS @ &
PERFAGBHRIBFENFTRIBN - BRIEEH
B COVID-19%% 1B 8 BUC i R SR T B BA &2
HEBUARTEE S  NEBEFRBRERITE
EREMREBMETERERREENTSE
WHEIE - TEEFFT S B F BRI I D 1w e
AEEE T _=—F+_A=1+—HIFHKF
B BRIFHBRTAEBERNER  BHHAME
HERRDERESHREM - LERET
BRI EE R & E) -

COVID-19%& & M hNo& Bl M3 fE R 558 EFHE
PHEBER S —FE2REWEBRNTZ -
AEBRAR—FRAZRBEEEIBE T2
MEER  HEETFERARBESHEEIE -
FEICOVID-19E Efm T A tE RS M R R B A
MHNHBRRT - BREERSMRERAFA
REPERREEHREBERE— S B &
B 2IRKEBEA DR AR RSB ERELET R
& COVID-19F7 5| BUAY 48 75 & B 3 iR J b 4 I
AT HBEREEZEHEERERME R HaE
BERKE FRIREHHSREEEERA
WMERE BEASMNELBFBREA 2
JIE 435 B R FE T LAMREIEBE -

BEAXENARAOESD - AEEHEHER
REPRFHEETBE - DU Ll DB A& 2R
MTNEE - REZTETE - ARABENE
D AREREEABRENNEERREH
B - WIRFTEZOBEFEE AR/ RKER
WBETEER -
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The Company’s corporate governance code is based on the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
is committed to ensuring a quality board and transparency and
accountability to Shareholders.

The Company complied with all code provisions in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The CG Code and code provisions specified in this corporate
governance report refer to the CG Code and code provisions
prior to their amendments effective from 1 January 2022.

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration
in relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of the
Group; (ii) considering and deciding the Group’s significant
operational and financial matters, including but not limited
to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (iii)
overseeing the Group’s corporate governance practices; (iv)
ensuring effective risk management and internal control systems
in place; (v) directing and monitoring senior management in
pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining
the remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board policies
and strategies and the daily administrative matters are delegated
to the respective Board committees and the management team
of the Company.

ARRATF 2 BEREESTRTHE LR A 8%+
prEvb e TRl ([REERTA 2RA
RN ARARBNERSEENEFTE MENR
B YeRKREE -

ARARRBE-_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HItF
EEBETHALEEASAZSFANES -

AR FER TR E PE DR E R TR R T RIEX
EEEB T _F A BRERNERTAZ
EEIAT R &SRR -

EEEREUTERHEREREZE : ()HlE
REBHRBIERR (BB IREAEEH
EELELVBEE  BRETRREKREH
MBBREESRE: (IERASENCEER
B (VRERERA G MR R E T AR bl
B WESEESRAEEEERLRARENE
BER: RViBEEEREZENASESNER
BOFHHNTE  BREYHZD  RASERN K
BAIKIBBARENRE - EFQBREK
REEARTREFNETRATRAZTES
SLREGNARRIEREEKAES -
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The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings in a
year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions in writing
signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be arranged as and
when required. If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a
Director has a conflict of interest in a transaction which the Board
determines to be material, it will be considered and dealt with by
the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. Comprehensive
information on matters to be discussed at the Board meeting
will be supplied to the Directors in a timely manner to facilitate
discussion and decision making.

At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The name and office of each of the members of the
Board and the Board committees of the Company are as follows:

ExeEFBLARUREREEESE I
RBEEFRTRIGZANERBESTRENS
HRZFRABBTER - HEFERR/AQF
MEBRRABEN AR ST P REKF =R
Bk ARRIBREACBRNEFTEER
HEFSETENEE AEEEFRESREHR
HREZSEARBAINEEZIEEEN - B
A SORER ©

RAFHEY EFER=-ZRTESR=F
BYFRTESEAK - ARFEFENERZE
BexKB cua MBIIT

Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director and Director of Manufacturing

Board members Office

Ex=gmE B4z

Lai Yiu Wah Chairman and Executive Director
R TRERATES

Tai Leung Lam

R THAE  ITEEREEMRE

Joseph Mac Carthy
Joseph Mac Carthy

Fung Chun Chung

ki tes

Cheung Kin Wing

RER

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

Executive Director and Head of Sales and Technical
HITEEREELRTEE

Independent Non-executive Director

BN IEMITESR

Independent Non-executive Director
BUIFRITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BN IERITES
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ERERARE

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Cheung Kin Wing (Chairman)
Fung Chun Chung
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Wong Raymond Fook Lam (Chairman)

Lai Yiu Wah

Fung Chun Chung

Cheung Kin Wing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Fung Chun Chung (Chairman)
Lai Yiu Wah
Wong Raymond Fook Lam

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman)
Cheung Kin Wing

Fung Chun Chung

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

BEREEERE
REE (LE)
iR

EER

FHEEENE
BER (ZE)
PR

it

Rz

REZEEHE
SRR (£/F)
R

EREEZESENE

RiRE (2F)
SRIER
A

B

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | ¥ T ¥ E 7 £@EAR A 7



All of the existing Executive Directors have signed a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract). The said service contracts have been renewed for a
term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter of
appointment). The said letters of appointment have been renewed
for a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Group. A balanced composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
maintained to ensure independence and effective management.
The Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the Listing
Rules in having at least one of the Independent Non-executive
Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. There is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) among the members of the Board.

The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When selecting
potential candidates for the Directors, their skills, experience,
expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of interests are the
key factors.

The daily operation and management of the business of the
Group, among other matters, the implementation of strategies,
are delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management.
They report periodically to the Board on their work and business
decisions.

FIBERBRTEECHARBRIIRISEL
H-Z—tF_A+HBMNTAEH=F (AIRN
HEERG S DTS FTBERTRILE) - B
BREAHCKREFH S _SFE_A—AEA
HI=4 -

BEIFATEFTCHARARIIZREE - &
“E+F-A-HRBOTRE=F (AIRXH
MEZEEMIANETHERTRIL) - BAZRE
EEREFR T _TF_A—HERH=F-

PREFARBAAFAGERRMA (TAR])
—FELRBWFERE -

ARBEHRFNEFTENMES  UWBERENK
BRI EYESEYAEEXEBIEN T
& JITEENBIUIFATEST ABINRETY
& UREBYELERER - ARAENA
EHRANBRRE &P —(IBILIERTT
EXABEENEXERNETRBRANORH
EREER -BEFERBZHMETMARER (8
B - £%  REXEMBEKR HBEBRER) -

EEnZaE I myHEEeERERE R
- YHEFEREZEFESNIEAE@EE
FREBRTAME BEBEEEREAR K
REE - KB BR - IRBOKERENEE
RAR/TERAE -

REEEEHERLBNEER (Kb QIR
MET) EERBTEFREREREAR -
BETHREFEERTIERERE -
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All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility for
drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”).

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at the Board meetings and have received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while the Board papers are sent to the Directors not
less than three days before the intended date of a Board or Board
committee meeting. With respect to other meetings, the Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Articles. The Company Secretary ensures that the
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection at any time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever they
deem necessary. The Directors will be updated with legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in
the discharge of their duties from time to time.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant Board committees for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

?ﬁ#ﬁ%ﬂ)\%%?%%&E’JEH$I§HEﬁﬁﬁﬁ
EEFHERNHN EFRIFRCREARD
MARWE ([ARARE]) HiTBREEESE

SR
SESR

EZQIRNEEARMERDT  |NER
PREFHREIEZEREHEFT TR LIEL
MR B RERBEHRASFHNE

CHEHeRREFHEERZEI14REBH

FRXHERER %ﬁi%Ai§$%i§§%
BHRZ L =-—B%2EE - tEMemZmE -
REBERAIITHBRAT  EFEESENE
Ao %%T%ﬁ%ﬂj}ﬁf;;ﬁ : T@E%%EE\'J i)
HhEFRAARLEGE - RAWERRED
BTERREFLAAERRANER -EFF
SRNEFZESRANERLEARFTNE
RE FAEFRELCEBMNEAEREH

GARCEE ©

E=T2RDHAKRENER  YRNBRER
ERAHHABLEXRR - EERTHWEE
TEC MR LRLEEEHNEEERITH
BERHEBEEEZENEH -

NERERESEHMEN - ERTHER K
ERFEFRMMETZARNAME - U
S

TP REERRAETRARB N @R EH R
BEARG  BRBIUFRTEEFESNER
o EE§$ABAIET”F#EJE’]§$EE.:§L%F
REEE - EEFUARFEABBAEEHE
MR HHEEANER  ZFEFTHERE
AFABREZAEEAR
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The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

RESPONSIBILITIES

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in
good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders. Their responsibilities
include (i) regular board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance; (i) monitoring
the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of internal and
external reporting; (i) monitoring and managing potential conflicts
of interest of management, board members and shareholders,
including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in connected
transaction; and (iv) ensuring processes are in place to
maintain the overall integrity of the Company, including financial
statements, relationships with suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders, and compliance with all laws and ethics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors’ responsibilities for the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 90 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERARSE

ARRE BB BILIFATEERE EHAA
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development
of the Company and also to enhance the quality of performance
of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six
Directors. Three of the Directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors and are independent of the management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of professional background and skills.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, eleven Board
meetings were held to review and approve, among other things,
(i) the financial results for the year ended 31 December 2020; (ii)
the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2021; (i)
business progress, operation updates, and quarterly results; and
(iv) publication of profit warning announcement. The Board also
held a Board meeting on 24 March 2022 to approve the annual
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.
One annual general meeting of the Company ("AGM") was held
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Details of the Directors’ attendance records in Board meetingsand #HEZE_-_Z-—4F+_A=+—HILFE EF
general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set REFCeZ LR EAS SR EFE LTS

out below: wmr
No. of Board No. of general
meetings attended/ meetings attended/
Name of Directors eligible to attend eligible to attend
HEEEERHE HE S EEREE
BEEHR E=ZggEA¥ BRRASSERH
Executive Directors
HITEE
Lai Yiu Wah 11/11 1M
Tai Leung Lam 11/11 1/1
R AR
Joseph Mac Carthy 11/11 1/1

Joseph Mac Carthy

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUHPTEF

Fung Chun Chung 11/11 11
ST

Cheung Kin Wing 11/11 11
BELS

Wong Raymond Fook Lam 11/11 1/1

=R

g HEZZBEE-
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W
m

\
i

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit =B NEZ % B

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee @ZE® - IRHZEShEARERZEE - &%

and the Risk Management Committee. Specific responsibilities of B &H R EBHE N T X5l ﬁﬁﬁé,\ =93]

each committee are described below. All committees have defined AREMNBESE @ HEZEETITRLES
JASFRIFTEE o

\

&
terms of reference which are no less exacting than those set out in
the CG Code.
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The Audit Committee was established on 27 October 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee is
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not
limited to, the following: () making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and removal of the external auditor;
(i) reviewing the financial statements of the Group and monitoring
the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii) overseeing the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures and
the Group’s internal audit function.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two Audit Committee
meetings were held, during which the Audit Committee reviewed
and discussed (i) the independence and objectivity of independent
auditor and its engagement; (ii) the audited financial statement
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020; (iii) the
internal control and risk management report of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020; (iv) the unaudited interim
financial statement of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2021; and (v) the re-appointment of the independent
auditor of the Group. An Audit Committee meeting was also held
on 24 March 2022 with all the members present to review and
consider, inter alia, the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the re-appointment
of independent auditor of the Group. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditor.
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Attendance at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Name of Directors

EREZESEENEE_TS-_—F+-R=+
—HIEFENBELENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HES&E®%
EEpnE HESERE
Cheung Kin Wing 2/2
SREE R
Fung Chun Chung 2/2
ST
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 2/2
=B

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee considered that the relevant
financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the
applicable accounting principles and requirements of the Stock
Exchange and disclosures have been fully made.

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1 of the CG
Code on 27 October 2017. As at 31 December 2021 and date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
four members, namely, Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam, Mr. Lai
Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Cheung Kin Wing. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of all the
Directors and senior management; (ii) making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (iii) determining
the specific remuneration packages of all Directors and senior
management; and (iv) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to (i) review the remuneration of
senior management; and (ii) consider the amendment of Share
Option Scheme adopted by the Company.

ERLZBQEEHNARARBE_Z_—F 1+
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Attendance at meetings of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Name of Directors

FMEEgeENEE_S_—F+-R=+
—HIEFEMRFLENT

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HES&E®%
EEpgE HESRRE
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 2/2
HER
Lai Yiu Wah 2/2
RIEE
Fung Chun Chung 2/2
ST
Cheung Kin Wing 2/2
SRR

Details of the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration of
the senior management is listed below by band:

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE E=F
Fk s HMALTOFE  ERGEAH
BRMIEEO °

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—BLEE af
EEEHIIZEESHMT

Number of

individuals

AE

HKS$ nil to HK$1,000,000 Nil
T 21,000,000/ 7T i3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 4
1,000,001 7L & 1,500,0007 7T g
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 Nil
1,500,001 7L 22,000,000/ 7T s

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
2,000,0018 L% 2,500,000/ 7T

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code on 27
October 2017. As at 31 December 2021 and date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong
Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Fung Chun Chung.

1

REZEEN-_ZT—+tF+A-FTtAHKT
I 38 PR 1 2 A <F B SEASER il 7] & B A #8
B -MN-ZE-_—F+_A=+—BRAEER
LHE REZESRE-RKE  BIRRE
SE - BEPAERERRALE - RBZES
TEAGERLLE -
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The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors; and (iii) making
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held to (i) review the structure, size,
diversity and composition of the Board are appropriate; (ii) assess
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors; and
(i) recommend the re-election of Directors.

Attendance at meeting of the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Name of Directors

BEEHR

RAZBENEIZREEE (BARR) ATE
B (VRN EEERE - RERAK - (i)FHEE
MIEMITERNELN MM EERERZ
TEFREFUIFINESTSELHEBEE -

REBEE_T-_—F+-_A=+—BLEFER"
REZBEET - ReF AT ESFEINR
B BRE ZTARERRTBEE (i)
BIUFATESHEUM - M)ZREEES -

REZEEEFENEE_T_—F+R=+
—HIEFENHFLENT

No. of

meetings attended/
eligible to attend
HE S EER
HESBAH

Fung Chun Chung

5 SE

Lai Yiu Wah

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

iR

The Nomination Committee has reviewed annually the Board
composition by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity,
including but not limited to those described under the heading of
Board Diversity Policy in this annual report. The Board Diversity
Policy shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

1/1
1/1
11
RAZBECEBERZ T T EHMNE S -
BFRIEFENAEN  BREETRRAFR
EEeZ U EBEREATMLE - EF@Z T

BEBRREZE RN (RTBER) - LR
HBEXY °
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The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors
in making nominations, including but not limited to the following:

a.  Skills, Experience and Professional Expertise

The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge,
experience and professional expertise which are relevant
to the operations of the Group.

b.  Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

C. Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend the board meetings and participate in induction,
training and other board associated activities. In particular,
if the proposed candidate will be nominated as an
Independent Non-executive Director and will be holding
his/her seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the
Nomination Committee should consider the reason given
by the candidate for being able to devote sufficient time to
the Board and committee meetings.

d. Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience
and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as a
director of the Company.

e. Independence

The candidate to be nominated as an Independent Non-
executive Director must satisfy the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Where applicable,
the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and
experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for
filling the office of an Independent Non-executive Director.
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The Risk Management Committee was established on 27 October
2017 to review and monitor the risk management system and
oversee the hedge activities of the Group. As at 31 December
2021 and date of this annual report, the Risk Management
Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lai Yiu Wah, Mr.
Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr. Wong Raymond
Fook Lam. The chairman of the Risk Management Committee is
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah.

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
risk management system of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish an effective
risk management system; (i) formulating risk policies and
standards; (i) reviewing the material risk exposures of the
Group; (iv) reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent
of significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management systems
and the work of the Group’s internal audit function; (vi) reviewing
the Directors’ decisions on entering into hedge arrangements; (vii)
reviewing the effectiveness of the hedge policy; and (viii) providing
recommendations to the Board on improving the hedge policy,
where appropriate and if necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one Risk Management
Committee meeting was held to review the risk management
system of the Group and the Directors’ decision on entering into
foreign currency hedging arrangements and the effectiveness of
the Group’s hedging policy.

Name of Directors

RREEZEEeN _T—tFtA-TEHEKX
Vo NEEREFRRAREEBRAUMEEBAR
B P ES  c R _—F+_A=+—HRK
AEEHREAH AREEZESEENAK
B BIZRBESLL - REKELE  BEBLLE
kEmmrt RREEZEENIFE AR
ERE o

ERERZENFEHERE (BTRERM) U
TEE: (T AEEMNRREERG - Wik
REEECDCEBITERSE AR BAROEAKE IR
Z& 0 ()6l E] RBRBUR RIRZE © (i) A& E
FrESEZEE  (vVEBFHRTERERSE
BREBES/L: WVEBFRIEEBHEEZRA
BMEBRFAMAEBRNITEZEETIENGE
MEZE (ViR EBH A LR R B ATERIR
TE ¢ (Vi) 5 EOR ECR B B RUE  R(vili R E
BRTITMEEENRREE TRRANESGIE
B EE -

REBEEZT-_—F+A=+—HIEFER "
EREEZESRITNEE  UBRTAEE
WERERE RS REZHRLINEE R T
VEHY SR TE DA Ko 25 82 [ S S B3R Hy A SRUIE ©

No. of
meetings attended/
eligible to attend

HE BEK
EEpE HESBRE
Lai Yiu Wah 1/1
RIEE
Cheung Kin Wing 1/1
SRR
Fung Chun Chung 1/1
K
Wong Raymond Fook Lam 11
=B
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of
conduct governing Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors
have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code and there were no events of non-compliance during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report.

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
All newly appointed Directors will receive training from the legal
adviser of the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director
of a listed company in Hong Kong. The Directors are continually
updated with business and market changes, and legal and
regulatory developments to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities through various Board meetings, resolutions,
memoranda, Board papers, and updates on corporate
governance practices and director’s responsibilities under the
Listing Rules, applicable laws and other relevant statutory
requirements. The Company has arranged the legal adviser to
provide a training to all Directors on continuous professional
development for directors.

RABEERM ETRAEEE+ATE EmEITA
ERETEFRZFNIZESTR ([ZESPR)
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Up to date of this annual report, the current Board members have
participated in the following training programs:

BEEAFRAM RESEFSHEE2MAT
FEFIERIE -

Types of training

1A E B
Reading materials
Attending training updating on
organised by legal new rules and
Name of Directors adviser regulations
B E R REEEMRRR
EEfE ZHEHIEI ERZEH
Executive Directors
HITEF
Lai Yiu Wah v v
Tai Leung Lam v v
B RAM
Joseph Mac Carthy v v
Joseph Mac Carthy
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHPTEF
Fung Chun Chung v v
ke ates
Cheung Kin Wing v v
BEES
Wong Raymond Fook Lam v v

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the
Group and, as at the date of this annual report, the Directors and
officers of the Company are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them
in discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors
and officers of the Company. The Directors and officers of the
Company shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud,
breach of duty or breach of trust proven against them.

ARFRERAEEEZERSABERESED
RERE  REFEAKEREAENRRE
HRE - MAARFHRALY > ARREERSR
BENEEARREELSABENRE AR
ERTBREMSIBNENEEAXIEERS
FBEREERRZEE - WEEARAEFTR
= AR B FEERGE - RBSKRETR A
HEKTERE -
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The Company Secretary is to ensure a good information flow
within the Board and between the Board and senior management
of the Company, to provide advice to the Board in relation to
the Directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and regulations and to assist the Board in implementing
the corporate governance practices. Ms. Wan Mei Wa Ruby,
the Company Secretary, had attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee assist
the Board in leading the management and overseeing their
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems.

The principal aim of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems is to manage and mitigate business risks, with
a view to enhancing the value of shareholders’ investments and
safeguarding assets.
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The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness. A risk matrix is also
adopted to determine risk ratings after evaluation of the risk by
the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings
reflect the level of management’s attention and risk treatment
effort required.

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm
that control policies are properly complied with by each division/
department. The management assessed the likelihood of risk
occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the risk
management progress, and reported to the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board, the Risk
Management Committee, and Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

ARARREBREERAMBERZRGNEIETEE
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The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of design,
implementation, and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls. Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
control and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this
respect, the Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee
communicated any material issues to the Board.

The Group’s internal audit team is responsible for performing
an independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit team examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and the results
of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Risk Management Committee, Audit Committee, and the
Board. Moreover, improvements in internal control and risk
management measures to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the internal audit
findings and recommendations, as well as the comments of the
Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management systems
are adequate and effective.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Listing
Rules and SFO to disclose inside information to the public as
soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public.
The Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact,
or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in
view of disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate
and effective way. The procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:
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° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules, the
Guideline on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and its own policy;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed events or
matters on fair disclosure by non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs so that only
the Executive Directors, Company Secretary and other
persons duly authorised by the Board are authorised to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Auditor of the Group. The following table shows the audit and
non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers and
its affiliates and other auditors for the year ended 31 December
2021:
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Audit services:
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- PricewaterhouseCoopers 1.9
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- Other auditors 0.3
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0.8
Non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers 2B £t 7k 18 & 5t Al 55 75 BT N £ B8 B =5 75 Fr [A) A

and its affiliates to the Group mainly represented interim
review and taxation services. The reporting responsibilities of
PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out in pages 91 to 93 of this
annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditor during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the shareholders and investors to make the
best investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and
timely manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders
as well as the investors to have a better understanding of the
business performance, operations and strategies of the Group.
The Company’s website at www.trio-ieg.com allows the potential
and existing investors as well as the public to get access to
and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate and financial
information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, email address and postal address, in
order to enable them to make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company.

They can also send their enquiries to the Board through the
above means. The contact details of the Company are set out in
page 61 of this annual report and the Company’s website.

The Board welcomes views of the shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that they
may have with the Board or the management directly. Board
members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available
at the meetings to answer any questions raised by shareholders.
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To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 68(c) of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings shall
also be convened on such requisition, or in default, may be
convened by such requisitionists, as provided by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”). If any time there are not within Hong
Kong sufficient Directors capable of acting to form a quorum,
any Director or any two or more members of the Company
representing at least 10% of the total voting rights of all members
having a right to vote at general meetings, may convene a general
meeting in the same manner as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company or put
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The contact
details are as follows:

Board of Directors
Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited
Address: Block J, 5/F, Phase Il, Kaiser Estate,
51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone hotline: (852) 2765 8787
Email address: rubywan@trio-ieg.com

To put forward proposals at an AGM or a general meeting, the
shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals with
detailed contact information to the Board/Company Secretary at
the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the
proposed resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given to
all the shareholders for consideration of the proposals submitted
by the shareholders concerned varies as follows pursuant to
article 70 of the Articles and subject to section 578 of the
Companies Ordinance.

(@) for an AGM, it shall be called by notice in writing of at least
twenty-one clear days (or such longer period as may be
required by the Listing Rules); and

(b)  for a general meeting other than an AGM, it shall be called
by notice in writing of least fourteen clear days (or such
longer period as may be required by the Listing Rules),

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the Auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
registered office and provide their full names, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

There was no change on the articles of association of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021. An up-
to-date version of the articles of association of the Company is
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company is an investment holding and the activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 162 to 163 of this
annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 94
to 97 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HKO0.8 cent per share).

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK1.2 cents per
share).

Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set out in the section
headed “Dividend Policy” on page 80 of this annual report.

For determining the entitiement to attend and vote at the AGM to
be held on Friday, 27 May 2022, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 23 May 2022 to Friday,
27 May 2022, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of
Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2022.

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year ended 31 December 2021, the key factors affecting
its results and financial position, and the information on the
compliance with laws and regulations, environmental policy and
relationships with stakeholders are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
Furthermore, a fair review of, and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the year ended
31 December 2021, no important event affecting the Group has
occurred.
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has caused adverse impact on
the Group’s sales, raw materials supply and production.

The crisis brought by COVID-19 has created unprecedented
uncertainties to the global economy since 2020. In particular
for the industrial electronics industry, the deceleration in
manufacturing of core raw materials is causing disruption to the
entire supply chain and the product delivery schedules among
the electronic manufacturers. The Group’s production activities
and product delivery have been impacted by multiple waves of
COVID-19, affecting its ability to meet customers’ demands and
thereby the Group’s revenue growth.

The Group’s existing customers stay prudent on project
developments and slow down their orders. Potential customers
are also vigilant on new projects and new orders. If the virus
outbreak is not under control in the near future, it is yet
unpredictable the extent of the impact on the Group’s business
in the medium and long term.

Geopolitical tensions may have a potential impact on the
Group’s business

Geopolitical tensions such as the recent Russo-Ukrainian crisis
have posed considerable threats to the global recovery and
especially European economies. The disruptions caused by the
crisis may aggravate soaring material prices, longer lead times
and currency shocks. In addition, as most of the Group’s major
customers are in Europe, the crisis may have a potential impact
on their business. If one or more major customers reduce their
purchase orders to the Group, the Group’s business and financial
performance may be adversely affected.

The five largest customers accounted for more than 60.0%
of the total revenue. Any loss of the major customers or any
request for price reduction may materially and adversely
affect our business performance and financial condition.

Since (i) the Group does not enter into long-term sale and
purchase agreements with the customers and does not have
long-term purchase commitment from them; and (ii) the Group
is not their exclusive supplier, there is no assurance that the
five largest customers will continue to purchase the products at
current levels or at all in the future. If the prices of the products
are not as competitive as those set by the competitors for
comparable products or if the quality of the products does
not meet the customers’ expectations or requirements, the
customers may reduce their purchase volume or may not make
purchases from the Group. If any of the five largest customers
significantly reduces its purchase volume or ceases to place
purchase orders with the Group, and the Group is unable
to identify new customers, the business performance, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.
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In addition, there is no assurance that the major customers will
not negotiate for a reduction in the price of the products in the
future. In order to maintain business relationships with them, the
Group may have to offer a more competitive price to them. If
the Group is unable to reduce the production cost accordingly
in order to maintain the profit margins, the profitability, results
of operations and financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected.

Fluctuations in the prices of raw materials may affect the
cost of sales and adversely affect our business operations
and profitability.

The major raw materials include integrated circuits, metal parts,
plastic parts, printed circuit board components, capacitors,
connectors, transistors, cables and cores. The prices of the
raw materials generally follow their respective price trends in the
market and vary with industry conditions and market supply and
demand.

Since the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts
with the suppliers, there is no assurance that the suppliers will
not significantly increase the prices of raw materials in the future,
in particular when the market prices of or the market demand
for such raw materials increase. There is also no assurance that
the Group will be able to pass the increase in the costs of raw
materials to the customers in a timely manner or at all to avoid
adverse impacts on the profitability. If, in the event of material
fluctuations in raw material prices, the customers do not agree
to a price adjustment or the Group cannot pass the increase in
the cost of raw materials to them in a timely manner or at all, the
profitability, financial condition and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.

Any slowdown of the industrial electronics industry may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition and business prospects.

As an EMS provider specialising in the manufacturing and sales
of customised industrial electronic components and products,
our business performance depends, to a large extent, on the
performance and condition of the industrial electronics industry.
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The industrial electronics industry may experience slowdown or
downturn due to market or industry conditions, global economic
environment or other factors beyond control. Any decrease in the
demand for industrial electronics equipment such as renewable
energy facilities, telecommunications equipment, commercial
freight equipment, medical and healthcare devices, and security
systems may reduce the demand for our OEM products. In
such circumstances, the sales may decline and the results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The major functional currency is US$, while some of the business
transactions and the cost of sales are mainly denominated HK$,
RMB, THB, and EUR. The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risks as a result of sales and purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than US$. Any significant changes in the
exchange rate between US$ and other currencies may result in
substantial loss for the Group and the financial condition and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Failure to retain the services of key personnel may
adversely affect the results of operations.

The success to date has largely been attributable to the
contributions, commitment and experience of the management
team and key employees, in particular their familiarity with the
business operations and their experience and expertise in the
industrial EMS industry. Some of our Executive Directors have
more than 30 years of experience in the electronics industry.
In particular, Mr. Tai Leung Lam and Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy,
the Executive Directors, have more than 45 and 20 years of
experience in the electronics industry, respectively. The continued
success is dependent on the ability to retain the services of
members of the senior management and key employees who
possess the necessary experience and expertise in the industrial
EMS industry. If there is any significant or material change to
the composition of the key management team, the Group may
not be able to recruit experienced or qualified personnel in a
timely manner or at all, and may need to incur additional costs
and resources in the recruitment and training of the new staff
members. In addition, if the Group loses the key management
personnel or employees to the competitors, the competitiveness,
business performance, results of operations as well as business
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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There is no assurance that the business strategies and
future plans will be successfully implemented.

The successful implementation of the business strategies and
future plans will depend on various factors, including but not
limited to the ability to (i) retain the major customers; (ii) enhance
the production efficiency; (iii) retain the existing workforce and
recruit new staff members at a rate that is consistent with
the business growth; (iv) raise additional funds to support the
business expansion; and (v) explore new business opportunities.
There is no assurance that the Group will be able to successfully
implement the business strategies or future plans. Even if the
business strategies or future plans are implemented, there is no
assurance that they will increase the market share or enhance
the market position. The results of operations and financial
position may be materially and adversely affected if the business
strategies or future plans are not successfully implemented.

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 184 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$14,000 (2020:
HK$10,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s distributable
reserves available for distribution is HK$18,687,000 (2020:
HK$29,487,000).

BAREEBERBRRRFESELNER -

KRR R ARG E KB ERBURRN — &
JIAE - BIRETRRESNREIZRR ; (i)
RELEENE : (MRERENBH N RIRREA

EBER-BERXBEMET : (vEERI
B2UXHTBEBER  RVERRAEHEE -
BTN R RE AR B BE SR TN & B IR IR0 75 3R A%
SR IKET B o HEE A% KRS FOR A BIBEIS A

EE B AREBEAEMNTISEE RL N
m%%h%ﬁ%i‘“ RS SOR AT BIRBER TN R
B AARSENREXRERB BRI EZE
BEXTHEE -

AEEREREMRFENESE  EERARE
MEHNAFRFE184E - ILIEY MEKREE
I RERM—FED

KARNEEHMER
+—HZ#FH1E (&
EEIER

S
%IK%%>ﬁKﬁQM%ﬁ

AEERBE_E-_—F+_A=+—HIF
B2 BELARELHFBEIHNRNEGETE
WERMIEE14 -

AEERBE T —F+_A=1+—HILF
BEHMEAEREMBRA14,0008 T (ZF
—Z4 :10,000/87T) °

2 —9F+ZA=+—8  XRFEHNA
£ Ik & 15 /18,687,000 T (ZE T F ¢
29,487,000/87T) °

Annual Report 2021 FfE &



There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise required by
the Stock Exchange.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to date of
this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

BTES
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Lai Yiu Wah (Chairman of the Board)
ReE (EFGER)

Tai Leung Lam (Chief Executive Officer)
R (FTHAREL)

Joseph Mac Carthy

Joseph Mac Carthy

Independent non-executive Directors

BYEHITES

Fung Chun Chung

ki tes

Cheung Kin Wing

SRR ER

Wong Raymond Fook Lam

iR

Pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles, subject to article
120(e), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors (excluding those
Director(s) who are not subject to the rotation requirement under
the Articles) or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
the number which is nearest to and is at least one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

RIE MBI %120() K - BR4AIE120@) &S HB
MEI REERRBEFRE L =92 —H
EE (MTEETXANTHFERITBTEMER
WZEEE) RWEBEENABLIFEZTH=MF
o ARBELABERDR =92 ABHNESA
WERT - RIEZEERERET -
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Pursuant to article 120(e) of the Articles, any Director who holds
the position as an Executive Director shall not be subject to the
retirement-rotation requirement of the Article.

Pursuant to A.4.2 of the CG Code, all directors (no matter
executive or independent non-executive directors) including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Lai Yiu Wah will
voluntarily retire and, Mr. Fung Chun Chung, Mr. Cheung Kin
Wing, and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam will retire from office
pursuant to article 120(a) of the Articles.

Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam have
notified the Company their intention of not offering themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM as they intended to
devote more time to their other personal commitments and will
retire from office as the Independent Non-executive Directors
with effect from conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. Each of
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing and Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam has
confirmed in writing that he has no disagreement with the Board
and there are no matters in connection with his retirement
from the Board which should be drawn to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah and Mr. Fung Chun Chung, each being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the
forthcoming AGM.

The name of Directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are set out below:

Lai Yiu Wah

Tai Leung Lam

Joseph Mac Carthy
John Anthony Tiernan*
Lai Sek Piu

Lo Ka Kei Jun

David Mac Carthy*

*

Resigned as a director of subsidiary in Ireland and Germany
with effect from 15 December 2021 and 31 December 2021,
respectively.

# Appointed as a director of a subsidiary in Ireland with effect from
15 December 2021.

RIBADBIFE120(e) 6k - ERIEERITE SR
MESHAXARNGEEREREMER -

RBECEEARTAEAL2E  FIAEESE (T
MITHBIUIFATES) (BEEREEERERE
MBS BRIB=FREERE R - REE
EANAIEE120(a) 6k - BRI ST EA B BRI
MBEFRLEE REREENERFRTLEHR
Fo

RERAENERRELEECAS AR ARER
EREEBRRBFAREG LBEEEMT  AHEE
BIUFATEFTRY  BEERRBFKEE
REEY REAS/RSFHEREZRERNES
HMEAEB L REREENERHRELD
DHEABARRESTSYEER DK - A
EREEEFSREMARBARFBREREIN
HithEH -

REFLERBRPEEOTRERTBEER
EREBRRBFASG LBERETES -

REARBEERNFRAY  HEARARAMBL

REFENEFTRENT
BB
R

Joseph Mac Carthy

John Anthony Tiernan*

RHGIT

ma A

David Mac Carthy*

* RZBEZ—F+ZA+RBKZZT=—F+=
R=+—H2REBHERE B RIEE M E
NRIES -

# R-E-—F+-_A1+HBEEZTAERH
MBARIMES -
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EEgRE

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules as at
the date of this annual report and considers all the Independent
Non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 14 to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Three Executive Directors have each signed a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from 10 February 2017 (subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service agreement).
The said service contracts have been renewed for a term of three
years commencing from 1 February 2020.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years, commencing from 1 February 2017 (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter of
appointment). The said letters of appointment have been renewed
for a term of three years commencing from 1 February 2020.

None of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
any member of the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

BYFHITESZH U MRER

RAFHAY  ARAFCEESBILIFNTE
ERBELETRAUEIAMGMBELBBAEB I
ZFEEERHR  ARA/ERBUINTES
2] AVAL

EENEAREEERE

EENAEESHEEENBEFBIHNAF
WRE14E21H
BEERKEEN

CERWTESEECEBARBARIRBEL
H-Z—tF_ATHERVIFRHA=F (AR
HEREEKMMTANETIERTRL) - 54
REANELEFA_ZFT_FTFE_A—HESR
HI=4F o

BRIUGFATEFTCHARARIIZREE - A
“E—+F-A-BROTRE=F (AIRH
Fﬁ%ﬁciﬁﬁ‘ﬂﬂ)ﬂﬁﬁ“ BRTHEL) - BRERE

EREHA_T_TF_A—HERHA=F -

REERRBEFAGEZZBEENESLHEER
& BUEIAL B A R SAE R A] | A5 EHE AR
RERARR —F AR IEMBARME CAEME
BRON) MIRIEE M HERES -

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T¥EFEBEAR AT



There were no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, holding company, or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had
the following continuing connected transaction that is subject
to the Listing Rules’ reporting requirement for disclosure in this
annual report.

On 29 October 2021, Trio Engineering Company Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
consultancy agreement (the “Consultancy Agreement”) with Mr.
Kwan Chan Kwong (“Mr. Kwan”), the spouse of Ms. Wong So
Nui Amy, one of the controlling shareholders of the Company, to
appoint Mr. Kwan as a consultant of the Group for the term of 12
months from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2022 (both dates
inclusive). Under the Consultancy Agreement, Mr. Kwan is entitled
to a monthly consultancy fee of HK$356,500, a monthly car
allowance of HK$30,000 and a one-off gratuity of HK$310,000
after completion of the term of the Consultancy Agreement. The
annual caps for the Consultancy Agreement is HK$850,000 for
the period from 1 November 2021 to 31 December 2021 and
HK$4,375,000 for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 October
2022, respectively. Through this appointment, the Group will have
the benefits of Mr. Kwan'’s advisory services and contributions in
furtherance of the interests of the Company.

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transaction
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29
October 2021.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Consultancy Agreement and confirmed to the Board that, in
their opinion, the Consultancy Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are entered into by the Group in the
ordinary and usual course of business and on normal commercial
terms, and are fair and reasonable so far as the shareholders
of the Company are concerned and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

BMERALQE  HEAMEBRR - ERAFEK
RIAMBAREYL MEFHEZTNHEEER
REPERXHEEREEAN G ARAEHE
EBNERRS  RERABHONFRIBE=
E_—F+ A=+ HULEFEEARETE -

BHE-ZTZ-_—F+-A=+—BILEE A2
AIE R AT AR ET AR BB B 3R A8 E R AR
FHRAFEENFERERS -

RZZEZ—F+AZTNB  ARANEESR
BB RAEIHETIRERAGIEBE N TE
([BEE]) (RRRERBR s — &L L2
BeB) sT At ([ BABER]) - ZEEL
EAAEEER BB+ -_@AR BT
—F+—-A—HBRA®E-_E-_—_F+A=+—
BEm (BEEaREMA) - REZAAwE @
EHEWESE AAAEA356,5008 T FAXR
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
to report on the above continuing connected transaction for
the year ended 31 December 2021 in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
above continuing connected transaction in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided to the Stock Exchange.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the continuing connected transaction during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. With regard to the Consultancy
Agreement which constituted continuing connected transaction,
the Company has complied with the annual review and disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Save for the Consultancy Agreement, none of the related
party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 constituted connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction of the Company which is subject to the disclosure
or annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 9
to the consolidated financial statements.

FLEMMRBIE14A666ME EFTCERER
NEZHAE EFGEE R MEKAIRIERS
A A G BMAE B %E LIRS 30005
[FBIZNBHELMEER AN IZE TR
W L2EEHHRPET405 [HRBAREFTS L
RAPFERER SHLNRMG]  stEE=E
—E - F+ A+ HUEFENFERE
RSEL RS - IRIE_ LR FE14A.560& @ %
%%E%LL%%WL S EHEERAEE
MERNEREER RN - AQFEABR
%km&@%u#mﬂ$o

EEMAARANECREBEEZE_E-_—F+=-A=
T FERFEFEIHET EMRAE
14AZERIETE ©
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RBE S R B IBEHN AT R A B HRE N
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T FF+ A+ HUEFENBEIXS
B ETRBBEMAATE T ARGNEER S
RFERER S ASZEERFERTIRTHR
fR o

REBE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HALEERN "
WMEIT Y GFEEEBAR RS ENBRRIAFT
EREMERBLEBE 2ERBRITHEL -

BE_ZT_—F+_A=1+—HILFERNESE
NGB IR B BN R A ISR R M0 -

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T ¥ EF &£@MAER A 7



Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee will consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities and
performance of the Directors and senior management, as the
case may be, in assessing the amount of remuneration payable
to the Directors and members of the senior management.
The Remuneration Committee will periodically review the
compensation levels of the key executives. Based on the
performance and the executives’ respective contribution to the
Group, the Remuneration Committee may, within the aggregate
remuneration amount having been approved in a Shareholders’
meeting, make recommendations to our Board as to salary
increases or payment of discretionary bonuses.

The Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries,
overtime payment and discretionary bonus, other staff benefits
and contributions to retirement schemes.

Remuneration is determined with reference to the qualification,
experience and work performance, whereas the payment of
discretionary bonus is generally subject to work performance,
the financial performance of the Group in that particular year and
general market conditions.

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from conducting the
business of the Group.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against any liability, loss or
expenditure incurred by him in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted
to be done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done
by him as a Director.
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As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) as recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Model Code contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

RZE_—F+-A=+—H EFKAEARA
TETBRABRARASHEBEZEE (EER
&5 R E R G EXVED) BBty - ARG X
EREE T A () BRENRIEES RS G
FI62MFMREAF BN RGPS M e &
KR (IR LR BI85 1 SR E T A
AHEARRNRRB RS ORBIT

Percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company’s
Shares held issued share
Name of Directors Nature of interest in Long Position Total capital (Note 2)
¥ NG|
g Y| ERTRAZ
ESHH ERtE B8 E e REE DL (ME2)
Lai Yiu Wah Interest in controlled 725,000,000 750,000,000 75.00%
(“Mr. Lai") corporations (Note 1)
Rz REREE R (BEzE1)
(IREE])
Beneficial owner 25,000,000
EnlAA
Tai Leung Lam Interest in controlled 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Tai”) corporations (Note 1)
R REE LB ER (BzE1)
([&E%xE])
Joseph Mac Carthy Beneficiary of 725,000,000 725,000,000 72.50%
(“Mr. Mac Carthy”) a trust (Note 1)
Joseph Mac Carthy SR EA (ME1)

(TMac Carthy%4£ )
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Notes:

(1)  These Shares are held by Trio Industrial Electronics Holding
Limited (“Trio Holding”). Trio Holding was owned as to 27.5%,
27.5%, 17.5%, 17.5%, and 10.0% by Nawk Investment Inc.
(“Nawk Investment”), LLT Investment Inc. (“LLT Investment”),
Proactive Investment Inc. (‘Proactive Investment”), Grand Energy
Investment Limited (“Grand Energy”), and Eastville Enterprises
Limited (“Eastville Enterprises”), respectively. Nawk Investment,
LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, and Eastville Enterprises
were directly and wholly owned by Mr. Kwan Tak Sum Stanley
(“Mr. Kwan”), Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai and Ms. Wong So Nui Amy (“Ms.
Wong”), respectively. Grand Energy was directly and wholly owned
by King Fung Nominees Limited (“King Fung Nominees”) on
trust for Mr. Mac Carthy. Because of their interests in Trio Holding,
Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac Carthy, Ms. Wong, Nawk
Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy,
King Fung Nominees, and Eastville Enterprises are regarded as the
controlling shareholders and together be entitled to exercise and
control 72.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2021.

(2) The approximate percentages were calculated based on
1,000,000,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company has registered an
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (ii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Model Code.

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any
other Associated Corporations” above, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2021 were there any rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or the chief executive of the
Company or any of their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Hyat

(1) ZEROMBBEIZEFERER2A ([HK
LR FE o BEERBANawk Investment
Inc. ([Nawk Investment]) * LLT Investment
Inc. ([LLT Investment]) : Proactive
Investment Inc. ([ Proactive Investment]) -
Grand Energy Investment Limited ([ Grand
Energy]) MEastville Enterprises Limited
([Eastville Enterprises|) 7 BI#£27.5%
27.5% ~17.5% ~ 17.5% %10.0% > Nawk
Investment » LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment & Eastville Enterprises? Bl i
mRAEE((BxE]) #BE4E BREERST
wmuL+ ([Ext]) EE2EH%HAE - Grand
EnergyfKing Fung Nominees Limited ([King
Fung Nominees]) LA{E3E/Z= AMac Carthy
FEEERZEREB - BRFLE - BEE
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Investment » LLT Investment » Proactive
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REERA R-_E_—F+-_A=+—8"
THAL (LFEEXARRAEBZTBRAR) B
ARRAROBRDHBERD T HEEIPEFHE
ERA CBNIRIERE 7 KB IRDIE336(F AT
FENELMANERIORR

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2021,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Shares held in capital

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 3)

(RN

BRITRAZ

REB DL

BRRERE EmE FEFRROBE (F$EE3)

Mr. Kwan Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
fbtas MR LB R (BfFEET)

Ms. Wong Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
mRT REIEEEN R (BFEET)

Grand Energy Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Grand Energy REZAB AR (FzE1)

Trio Holding Beneficial owner 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
EE Sy EmAA (M$7E1)

Nawk Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Nawk Investment REIEEE R (FfF5E)

LLT Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
LLT Investment REZIE LB R (PfF5E)

Proactive Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Proactive Investment REZEEE S (F&ET)

Eastville Enterprises Interest in a controlled corporation 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%
Eastville Enterprises RS EE R (BF5ET)

King Fung Nominees Trustee; interest in a controlled 725,000,000 (Note 1) 72.50%

corporation

King Fung Nominees ZEEA RZIEEERER (FT5E)

RUAN David Ching Chi Interest of controlled corporation 88,872,000 (Note 2) 8.89%
RUAN David Ching Chi R EE N R (fFEE2)

RAYS Capital Partners Investment manager 88,872,000 (Note 2) 8.89%

Limited
RAYS Capital Partners
Limited

REKIE

(fizx2)
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Percentage of
shareholding in
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Shares held in capital

Name of shareholders Nature of interests Long Position (Note 3)
HARAT

BETREZ

RETDL

BRERE B FEmME FrEsiF R R B E (FI=E3)
Asian Equity Special Beneficial owner 84,064,000 8.41%

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited

Asian Equity Special EmiEA A

Opportunities Portfolio
Master Fund Limited

Notes:

)

3)

These shares are held by Trio Holding. Trio Holding was owned as
to 27.5%, 27.5%, 17.5%, 17.5%, and 10.0% by Nawk Investment,
LLT Investment, Proactive Investment, Grand Energy and Eastville
Enterprises, respectively. Nawk Investment, LLT Investment,
Proactive Investment and Eastville Enterprises were directly and
wholly owned by Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, and Ms. Wong,
respectively. Grand Energy was directly and wholly owned by
King Fung Nominees on trust for Mr. Mac Carthy. Because of
their interests in Trio Holding, Mr. Kwan, Mr. Tai, Mr. Lai, Mr. Mac
Carthy, Ms. Wong, Nawk Investment, LLT Investment, Proactive
Investment, Grand Energy, King Fung Nominees and Eastville
Enterprises are regarded as the controlling shareholders and
together be entitled to exercise and control 72.5% of the issued
share of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

Accordingly to the information available on the website of the Stock
Exchange, Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master
Fund Limited is owned as to 100% by RAYS Capital Partners
Limited, which in turn is owned as to 95.24% by Mr. Ruan David
Ching Chi.

The approximate percentages were calculated based on
1,000,000,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would be recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Mzt -

(1) ZEROMBBEZERFE - HLIZERBHNawk
Investment » LLT Investment * Proactive
Investment + Grand EnergyMEastville
EnterprisesD pl#BH27.5% * 27.5% »
17.5% ~ 17.5% 5 10.0% ° Nawk Investment »
LLT Investment » Proactive Investment &
Eastville Enterprises? BIHBELE - H kL
b REEAREXRTERZZEHE ° Grand
EnergyfiKing Fung Nominees AE7EH R A
Mac Carthy’ e A BE#ER2EHE - BREL
RS E C %A Mac Carthye4d - &
2+ + Nawk Investment * LLT Investment -
Proactive Investment * Grand Energy * King
Fung NomineesXFEastville Enterprisesid 22
IRz R—TE-_—F+_A=+—8"
BEBEAREIZEIRARR - B —RARITHERIE
FIRR R 2 BEITRINEN72.5% °

(2 WREBEEBIZMABWAHERSER - Asian
Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master
Fund LimitedERAYS Capital Partners Limited
#H100% + M1 % FARuan David Ching Chi%t
EHEB95.24% ©
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 December 2021, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at the general
meetings of the Company and are able, as a practicable manner,
to direct or influence the management of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December 2021
generated from the Group’s major customers is as follows:

22.5%
63.0%

— The largest customer
— Five largest customers

The percentage of purchases for the year ended 31 December
2021 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

— The largest supplier 4.9%
— Five largest suppliers 18.1%

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the year ended
31 December 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code. Having been made a specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings and code of conduct
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors nor the controlling
shareholders nor substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to
have any interests in a business which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other conflicts
of interest with the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved and
adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules by
written resolutions of the then shareholder on 27 October 2017. A
summary of the Share Option Scheme and the movement of the
share options granted was set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-
linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or (ii) requires the Company enter into any agreement that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered
into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021
or subsisted at the end of the reporting period.
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The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company will normally pay
dividend twice a year. The Board may declare special dividends
in addition to such dividends as it considers appropriate. The
dividend payout ratio will vary from year to year. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period. In determining/recommending the frequency,
amount and form of any dividend in any financial year/period, the
Board shall consider the following factors:

- the actual and expected financial results of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

- the Group’s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the
long-term growth aspect of the business;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 27 October
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph C3 and paragraph D3 of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and removal of the external
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of our Group and
monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and (iii)
overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures. The Audit Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, Mr. Fung Chun Chung and Mr.
Wong Raymond Fook Lam. The chairman of the Audit Committee
is Mr. Cheung Kin Wing, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. The audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and adequate disclosures
have been made.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capitals are held by the public at all times
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 40 to 62 of this annual
report.

THE FORTHCOMING AGM

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held at Room 4-5,
United Conference Centre, 10/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong on Friday, 27 May 2022 at 2:30 p.m.
and the notice convening such meeting will be published and
despatched to the Shareholders in the manner as required by
the Listing Rules in due course.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events affecting the Group after the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. The Board has taken the Audit Committee’s
recommendation that a resolution for their re-appointment as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor for the past three

years.

On behalf of the Board

Lai Yiu Wah

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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To the Members of Trio Industrial Electronics Group
Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Trio Industrial Electronics
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), which are set out on pages 94 to 183, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:

° Assessment of recoverable amounts of property, plant and °

equipment and right-of-use assets; and

° Net realisable value assessment of inventories.

Key Audit Matter
BREITSE

Assessment of recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Refer to notes 4(a), 14 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s revenue inflow is highly dependent on its
manufacturing operations on electronic products.

The Group is required to review for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Taking into account the loss of HK$10.6 million
recognised in the current year, the management
considers there is an impairment indication.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
recoverable amounts of assets included:

o Obtained an understanding of the assessment
process of recoverable amounts of the assets
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors;

° Tested the mathematical accuracy of the
underlying calculations in the valuation model and
agreed them to the approved one-year financial
budget and future forecasts. We compared
historical actual results to those budgeted to
assess the quality of management’s forecast;
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Key Audit Matter
BEENER

The Group performed an assessment of the
recoverable amounts for all property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. For the purpose
of performing the recoverability assessment,
management identifies the entire Group as a single
Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”). The recoverable
amount of the assets for the underlying CGU is
determined based on the higher of the fair value less
cost of disposal or the value in use. Management has
prepared the impairment assessment using the value
in use model to determine the recoverable amount
of the CGU, and concluded that the assets were not
impaired as of 31 December 2021.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST MR EEARETSE

° Assessed the key assumptions made by
management in the valuation model. We
discussed with management to understand
and evaluate their basis for selecting the
assumptions, and compared them to various
sources including future economic growth
forecasts and historical data for both the Group
and industry performance. We assessed the
reasonableness of the discount rate used by
checking it to the discount rates of comparable
companies within the same industry;

° Obtained and tested management’s sensitivity
analysis around the key assumptions, to
ascertain that the selected adverse changes to
the key assumptions, both individually and in
aggregate, would not cause the carrying amount
of the CGU to exceed the recoverable amount;
and
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Key Audit Matter
BREENER

Value in use represents the present value of the future
cash flows expected to be derived from the CGU.
The assessment contains a number of significant
assumptions such as revenue growth rate, gross profit
margin, pre-tax discount rate and terminal growth
rate. Changes in these assumptions may lead to
potential impairment charges on the carrying value of
the assets. The use of assumptions in the assessment
also requires estimates and judgments which may
be affected by unexpected future market, economic
or political conditions. There is inherent estimation
uncertainty in determining the recoverable amount
of the underlying CGU as significant judgments are
required by management, particularly management’s
view on key internal inputs and external market
conditions which impact future cash flows, the
discount rate and the long-term growth rate.

We focused on this area as these assets are
significant to the Group’s operations and the
assessment performed by management involved
significant estimates and judgments.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST UM EEERETSEE

° Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the recoverable amounts of assets in the
context of HKFRSs disclosure requirements.

Based on the audit procedures performed, we
found the Group’s estimates and judgment used in
the recoverability assessment of the assets to be
supported by the available evidence.

o REC(EEVMBHRESER) FEXFEERA YD

CRAAREZRNTESIE -

=2EF

RIBAITOETRF - RFIHR - EXEHTRZFE
E RIS B A th 0 il R A2 B 29 B AR P RE B ST o

Annual Report 2021 FfE &



Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEENER RPN EST MR EEARETSE

Net realisable value assessment of inventories Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value
assessment of inventories included:

Refer to notes 4(b) and 20 to the consolidated e Understanding and evaluating of management’s
financial statements. key internal controls in relation to inventory
costing and the net realisable value assessment
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias

or fraud;
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Key Audit Matter
BREENER

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has inventories
of HK$244 million, which were stated at lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The determination of net realisable value required
judgment to be made by management on the
estimated selling price, the estimated cost to
completion and the estimated cost necessary to make
the sale.

We focused on this area because of the significance
of the balances and the judgments and estimates
involved.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EST UM EEERETSEE

° Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
inventories aging profile used by management
to estimate the appropriate provision for slow
moving and obsolete inventories;

° Assessed the reasonableness of estimated selling
price determined by management by testing, on
a sample basis, the sales subsequent to the year
end. If subsequent sales were not available, we
compared the estimated selling price against the
most recent selling price prior to the year end
and assessed the impact of recent price trends
for these inventories; and

° Assessed the reasonableness of (i) the
estimated costs to completion by comparing
to the historical costs to completion and (i) the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale by
comparing to costs incurred in previous years.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the risk assessment of net realisable value
assessment of inventories remained appropriate and
the judgments and assumptions used by management
in determining the net realisable value of inventories
were supported by the available evidence.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Li Ching Lap Bernard.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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94

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meZHWER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 B —FF+ZA=F+—HILFE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E_TF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
Revenue W zs 6 744,067 701,699
Cost of sales HERAR 7 (604,738) (519,212)
Gross profit EF 139,329 182,487
Other income, net E U A F 58 6 3,153 3,427
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 7 (16,138) (13,098)
Administrative expenses ITHFA X 7 (130,093) (121,948)
Other operating expenses, net HEMas My $5 7 (4,903) (6,723)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (F18) % T (8,652) 44,145
Finance expenses, net S F 5 10 (6,843) (6,450)
(Loss)/profit before income tax B PTERiAT (B518),/ %A (15,495) 37,695
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisBifse (FAxX) 11 4,911 (8,814)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BER),/EF (10,584) 28,881
Other comprehensive income/(expense) HEemmizs  (Fx)
Iltems that will not be reclassified AT SEEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EmmEA -
Fair value gains/(losses) on revaluation of EETHEEFHAFEE
land and building, net of tax Wz (E518) ($08i%) 3,774 (1,650)
Currency translation differences E X ZERE (1,429) 772
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FERNEMEEmK S (FX)
for the year, net of tax (F0F31%8) 2,345 (878)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FREME (BE), W858
for the year (8,239) 28,003
(Loss)/earnings per share gk (B18) &7
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) — EAR K CEMl) 12 (1.06) 2.89

The notes on pages 98 to 183 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

B o
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As at 31 December 2021

——%+=A=+—§

2020
e < 3
Note HK$’000
Wit FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R K 14 53,678
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 23,200
Financial assets at fair value BEAFER AR ERN
through profit or loss-non-current TREE-IERD 16 13,854
Prepayment TEfTFRIE 17 1,864
Deferred tax assets FRIET I E E 18 -
92,596
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 20 132,931
Financial assets at fair value EAFER ABER
through profit or loss-current TREE-RE 16 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b e IE 21 183,044
Prepayments and deposits BAFIERES 17 29,791
Tax recoverable AI UL [E I8 -
Restricted bank deposits SRRBIRITER 22 6,139
Bank and cash balances RIT MR e 456k 22 99,216
451,121
Current liabilities nEAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E bR FIE 23 129,788
Contract liabilities aHAaE 24 3,453
Borrowings B 25 8,750
Lease liabilities-current HESE-RE 15 9,207
Current income tax liabilities BUEAFT S & (& 7,662
158,860
Net current assets REBEEFE 292,261
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERS 384,857
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Lease liabilities-non-current HEBE-IERD 15 16,105
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAE R 18 3,947
20,052
Net assets EEFE 364,805
Equity e
Share capital [N 26 281,507
Reserves 1 27 83,298
Total equity PR 364,805

The financial statements on pages 94 to 183 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 24 March 2022 and were signed on

its behalf

Lai Yiu Wah
RiEE

Director

EFE

The notes on pages 98 to 183 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

BRE

Tai Leung Lam

HEM
Director
EZE

ﬁ_j\ o
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96

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERS R

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE—_Z-—F+-A=+—RHIEE

Currency Share
Share Other Statutory translation Revaluation  option Retained
capital  reserve  reserve reserve reserve  reserve  profits Total
RE  HifE  Aiekk EXRE Efif BRERE REEA it
Note  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
it AT  TRT  TAR FAT FEL  FER FET  TAT
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZTZ-5-R-RiH 281,507 (125,162) 14,705 622 18,383 - 174750 364,805
Revaluation surplus THRETERRSR
on land and building - - - - 4,187 - - 4187
Tax effect of revaluation surplus Bt RAHEYE - - - - (413) - - (413)
Realisation of revaluation surplus, EREMEHR (k)
net of tax - - - - (613) - 714 101
Currency transaction differences EERHEE - - - (1,429) - - - (1,429
Contributions by/(dlstribution to) FRAEENES/
owners of the company: (BERAEGAELAE) :
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (10,584) (10,584)
Dividends paid EfkE 13 . . s . s - (12,0000 (12,000)
Balance at 31 December 2021 R-Z--F+-A=1-H
e 281,507 (125,162) 14,705 (807) 21,544 - 152,880 344,667
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-E-SF-F-HER 281507 (125,162) 13,231 (150) 20,724 7039 155302 352,491
Revaluation deficit on land and building T REFE[HEH - - - - (1,831) - - (1831)
Tax effect of revaluation deficit SfEEURETE - - - - 181 - - 181
Realisation of revaluation surplus, EREERS (N5E)
net of tax - - - - (691) - 804 113
Currency transaction differences EHR5EE - - - mn - - - 2
Contributions by/(distribution to) FRaEENES
owners of the company: (AELTEEAELAE) -
Appropriation of statutory reserve EEREEDR - - 1414 - - - (1474 -
Equity-settled share-based payment EREE RN REM
transaction RG] 28 - - - - - 198 - 198
Cancellation of share options THERE - - - - - (128 1237 -
Profit for the year ERad - - - - - - 28881 28881
Dividends paid BftfkE - - - - - - (16,0000 (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-Z-EFE+-A=1-H
e 281507 (125,162) 14,705 622 18,383 - 174,750 364,805

The notes on pages 98
financial statements.

to 183 are an integral part of these

FISE183ENWE AR IEREH TR 5 F
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE

B+ - RA=1+—HIEE

2020
—T_TF
Note HK$’000
Htat FHr
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRERE
Cash generated from operations LEEIEFERE 31(a) 50,861
Finance costs b AR (7,324)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BB (BR) 5 (2,986)
Net cash (used in)/generated from i EE) (FTA)/ Fifs
operating activities RE TR 40,551
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEERE
Net (increase)/decrease in restricted ZIRHERITER (38),
bank deposits AT ER a7
Interest income LR A 874
Investment income BEWA 139
Proceeds from disposal of fund investments HERESREMATERIE -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HBEME  BEMEE (8,797)
Purchase of listed equity investments BE EMRAKRE (9,312)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BB MEE
plant and equipment FiS 508 -
Settlement on derivative financial TEemIALE
instruments -
Proceeds from disposal of listed equity HE FTRRAEER
investments Frig k18 4,435
Net cash used in investing activities WEEE RIS R (12,614)
Cash flows from financing activities AMETHREERE
Proceeds from borrowings BRATISIE 31(b) 10,000
Repayments of borrowings BEER 31(b) (12,259)
Repayments of finance lease payables EBEMmEHEERMNHNIA 31(b) (43)
Dividends paid B E 13 (16,000
Principal elements of lease payments HENRNALIY 31(b) (7,937)
Net cash used in financing activities B EBFT AR FE (26,239)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash RERREEFEY
equivalents CRA) /1 hnF a8 1,698
Effect of foreign currency rate change INEH MBI E 680
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HmREX
REEEY 96,838
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+=-—A=+—HWR&£
RBESEEY 99,216
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HeERRESEEYHH
Time deposit up to three months BHZEASA T ESRER 22 50,000
Bank and cash balances RITRIRSHERR 22 49,216
99,216

The notes on pages 98 to 183 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong
and listed (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The principal place of business and registered office of the
Company is at Block J, 5/F., Phase Il, Kaiser Estate, 51
Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
electronic products. The immediate holding company of
the Company is Trio Industrial Electronics Holding Limited
(“Trio Holding”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated.
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This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and are in compliance with the Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
and derivative financial instruments, which are carried
at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the financial statements are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RS FEHR S AR B AN AR B B 5 R B P ER A
MEBSHABRBE - FRABRAIN - %
ERRRB2BRFEER—DER -

EHIEA
REMBBERDERRBREBGQ
T(EBEFMAE]) RHENE
BMBREEN ([ERMBREE
Bl]) WEREERRGHER - K
REMBRERNBAMIAES L
AR (T EWRAL) P ERER
KEEF

AREE

BAHBERRE SR ALR
B WERAFEFIRN LI RIE
FEMGE - RAFETAREERD
SEAERITESBT AR -

BIRB B WM QR 7 H
REBRERAETRARE G T
FEEEECRAASEEGHE
B2 ERHIE - FREEHE R
SEEMENEREI Y LM ®R
REBERBRERMGEANEE 2
iR WIS AR RE4 T I EE

Annual Report 2021 FfE &



100

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FZ

POLICIES (Continued)

SETERBE (&)

2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 EIEE(£&)
2.1.2 Basis of preparation (Continued) 212 mBEE (&)

Amended standards effective in 2021 which are
relevant to the Group’s operations

The Group has adopted the following amended
standards which are effective for the financial period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and relevant to
the Group:

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and Reform - Phase 2
HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

In addition, the Group has early adopted the following
amendment to the accounting standard for the
accounting period commencing 1 January 2021:

HKFRS 16 (Amendment) COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The Group has assessed the impact of the adoption
of these amended standards and considered that
there is no significant impact on the Group’s results
and financial position.
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Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standard, amendments to existing standards
and interpretation effective after 2021 and yet to be
adopted

The following are the new standard, amendments
to standards and interpretation that have been
issued but are not effective for the accounting period
beginning 1 January 2021 and are yet to be adopted:

New standard, amendments and interpretation

RREE (&)

B = F = —F R AL 5 R R
HETER - HEER a9 1E 5T AR it
i

FHAER-E-—%—A—BH
bt 0 £ SRR 448 10 K 2 0 AL oK
MK H TR EBIE T AR R
”

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT BEs 2 & B H
HATER - BBTEARRR SHEENR
Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018- 1 January 2022
(Amendments) 2020 Cycle
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023

Non-current

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Statement 2 (Amendment)

—_

January 2023

HKAS 8 (Amendment) Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

HKAS 12 (Amendment) Deferred Tax related to Assets and 1 January 2023
Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

HKAS 16 (Amendment) Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 1 January 2022
before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendment) Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a 1 January 2022
Contract

HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

(Amendments)
HK-Int 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023

— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SHHERE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of presentation (Continued) 21 EIEXE (&)
2.1.2 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2A2RBERE (&)
Effective for

New standard, amendments and interpretation

accounting periods
beginning on or after

R B2 &R
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FREUERE (BFA) -2 \FE_T_TENBEYBRS “F--%-A-H
EAMFREIE
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BREHEAE IR RE AN BRE ERGELE —T-=%-f—-H
EAEHBAFN (BTA)
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BAGERFITR (BATA) BEMEAH - BITRNMAR —2__%-f-H
BREMBREERER (BTX) 2ERDER —2__%-f-H
BAMBREEANE TR RBENBRS RBED T =%-A-H
ERIF175 (BRIF)
BAREESS (ZT-TF) HHHE 2 - 1 RAHBERERER “E-=f-f-H

R THER %

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new standard, amendments
to standards and interpretation will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interest issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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Separate financial statements

Investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The result of subsidiaries is
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investment in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from this investment
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiaries in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amounts of the investment
in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amounts in the financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors of the Company that makes strategy decisions.

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). United
States dollars (“US$”) is the functional currency of
principal operating subsidiaries of the Group. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional
and presentation currency of the Company.
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Transactions and balances in financial statements

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.
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Property, plant and equipment (except for land and building)
is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amounts or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amounts
of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices. Land and
buildings are carried at revalued amount, being its fair
value at the date of the revaluation on the basis of periodic
valuations by external independent valuers less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
valuation is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.
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2.6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Revaluation increases of land and buildings are recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to
the extent that the increases reverse previous revaluation
decreases of the same asset. All other revaluation increases
are credited to the property revaluation reserve in the
shareholders’ equity. Revaluation decreases that offset
previously revaluation increase of the same asset are
charged against property revaluation reserve directly
in equity. All other decreases are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued land and
building, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in
the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 3.33%
Plant and machinery 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Leasehold improvements 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if necessary, at each reporting
date.
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The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amounts of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.
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Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that are depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Lease payment to be made reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate of interest that a lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the lease period
S0 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
follow:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received,;

o any initial direct cost incurred by the lessee; and

o restoration costs.
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The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-to-use buildings held by
the Group.

Payment associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise small offices
and car parking spaces.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Costs include cost of purchase (including taxes, transport
and handling) net of trade discounts received and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition, and are calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable value is
determined based on estimated selling price, the estimated
cost to completion and the estimated cost necessary to
make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in financial income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition is
recognised directly in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and presented in
“Other operating expenses, net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive income (“OCI”), except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When
the financial assets is de-recognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OClI is reclassified from equity to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and
recognised in “Other income, net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “Other income, net” and impairment
expense are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented net within “Other income,
net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investment at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “Other income, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investment measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes
in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The gain or loss is recognised
in “Other operating expenses, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of financial
position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities.

AR AIITHEN A BHECER TR
VEEBERFREEGEERRARERNEE
MERAER SREERAGEHRE
B WHEA MBI RREEFE < )&
JE P ITREN NS RREARREFE -
FE—REBBETURMAEBLEFT
—BHBREN  BEBRNEBWERLA
SRBIEATT

TTETARFIITERHNE BRFEAF
BERR HRRATEEHNTE - Ba
RiFaemPRaR T [HMQEmOF
B MR -

RiZaRERERT R LREFEY
BRFERAS RITEHER - A/FRD
HAR=ZEAxARZEHSERBIRE
ARRITES - RiFEPBHRRERS - iR
TEXNRBAETNERPIR

B 5 REMENRIBIRE A FEIIK -
IR E &R BN B ORIZ 3 35K A&
B RIFRIRZFEEM - AIEKBERT
BT

Wiz Wk ERREN A FEFE - R
REWHERERWERE - MRIFTE  RE
RIBERET R - AEER WS SRR
A5 ER  RREEMSAERAER
B R AR B SIBEB W T R R ER
R as ©

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T ¥ EF &£@MAER A 7



Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods directly to the customers
is recognised at the point that the control of the inventory
have passed to the customers, which is primarily upon
the acceptance of the products by the customers. The
customers have full discretion over the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. The Group collects cash or
bank acceptance notes from the customers before or
upon deliveries of products through banks. Cash or bank
acceptance notes collected from the customers before
product delivery is recognised as contract liabilities, see
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net fair value (loss)/gain on these assets, see note 6 to
the consolidated financial statement.

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
and financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as financial income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. Any other interest income is included
in finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior years. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group participates
in both a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme which is registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The
assets of both schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. All employees joining the Group on or after
1 December 2000, who are qualifying employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance and eligible to participate in
the MPF Scheme, are enrolled with the MPF Scheme.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme
prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme,
or switching to the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at rates ranging
from 5% to 15% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of services with the Group.

TRIO INDUSTRIAL ELECTRONICS GROUP LIMITED | {2 T ¥ EF &£@MAER A 7

RHEEME
AEEEARABBTHBASD
ZEEREREEERER - HE
AW BB ARHEEXNARE
BERMAFERBEFENRER
Brma Al - B SRE S SR B HE
ERESNE TR - HERN
IMBERSEER/NFAEX -

HRAUREENEES  AEERF
%Aﬁﬁ%%ﬁW?%MWﬁﬁz
EREEFURKETFE ([BERAK
ﬁ%ﬁ&%:%?%¢+—ﬂﬁ
B o0& B 1 AR R I AR AL 2 58 1
rEEFTE ((RAELTED - W
HiE 2 EERERABEZAES
B BEAEEEESA -RZZT
TEFE+ - A —HHZEMAKRE
B XEBEFEEAEEBERFE
BE2mBESHENMESERE
8 HEEIL2EBELHTE - P
BIESFEIR A2 HEB RN
+%ZEETL%%5/A%%
Ketgls B AL HEHRESTE -

BERKFEZESCKAEERA
SEEFEBAER BENTE
EBHAKFWZ5%E15%T%E - 8T
RAERZ REFHmE



Pension obligations (Continued)

For employees under the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of
the employees’ relevant income to the MPF Scheme,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000.

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the ORSO Scheme and the MPF
Scheme are recognised as employee benefit expenses
when they are due. When employees leave the
ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme prior to the full
vesting of the employer’s voluntary contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group.

The Group in the PRC participated in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by
relevant governmental authorities for its employees
in the PRC and contribute to these plans based on
certain percentage of the salaries of the employees
on a monthly basis, up to a maximum fixed monetary
amount, as stipulated by the relevant governmental
authorities. The governmental authorities undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to
all existing and future retired employees under these
plans. There are no forfeited contributions under
these plans to reduce the contributions payable by
the Group.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they are accrued to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees.
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Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares of the Company.
The cost of such transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which the entity and another party (including an
employee) agree to a share-based payment arrangement,
being when the entity and the counterparty have a
shared understanding of the terms and conditions of the
arrangement (“Grant Date”). The fair value of share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model, taking into account any market conditions and non-
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at fair value
of the goods or services received, except where the fair
value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. In all cases, the fair value is measured at the date
the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the entitlement of relevant
employees to the award is no longer conditional on the
satisfaction of any non-market vesting conditions (“Vesting
Date”). During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year of the review, with
a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.
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Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share capital. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period in the countries where
the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Taxation (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal
of the temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed
profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense within
“Finance expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.
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Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probably that some or all of the facilities will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in which they are
incurred.

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Thailand and Ireland. Entities within
the Group are exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to HK$, Euro (“EUR?”),
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Thai Baht (“THB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from export sales,
purchases, other future commercial transactions
and monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

Management has set up a policy to require
the group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional currencies.
The group companies do not adopt formal
hedge accounting policy. It manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of foreign currency rates and will
consider to enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts to reduce the exposure should the
need arise.

As at 31 December 2021, if US$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5 percent against EUR with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2021 would have
been HK$80,000 (2020: HK$1,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange loss on
translation of EUR denominated trade and other
payables, and cash and cash equivalents.
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Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been HK$1,597,000 (2020:
HK$1,440,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange differences on translation of
RMB denominated trade and other receivables,
deposits, trade and other payables, and cash
and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2021, if the US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 5 percent against
THB with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been HK$22,000 (2020:
HK$274,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange differences on translation of
THB denominated other receivables, deposits,
other payables, and cash and cash equivalents.

Under the Linked Exchange Rate System
in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to USS$,
management therefore considers that there is
no significant foreign exchange risk with respect
to the HK$.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from
certain currency exposures such as Great British
Pound, Singapore dollar, etc. are not significant.
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Market risk (Continued)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held
at variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group does not adopt any interest
hedging strategy.

Bank borrowings of the Group were arranged
at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates on
borrowings at variable rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021 would have been
HK$5,000 (2020: HK$7,000) lower/higher as
a result of higher/lower net interest expenses.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk are primarily attributable to
financial instruments, financial asset at FVPL, trade
and other receivables, deposits, time deposits and
cash deposited at banks. Management has credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. In this respect,
management considers the credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of cash deposited at banks and time
deposits, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are reputable financial institutions
with sound credit ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies.

For deposits and other receivables, management
makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability with no
significant credit risk identified.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation
to financial assets that are measured at FVPL. The
maximum exposure at the end of the reporting period
is the carrying amount of these investments.

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables has been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 120 days by due
date and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the relevant industry GDP
of the countries in which it sells its goods to be the
most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in
these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEEKBERE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HERBREZ (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERK (&)

EZERABRBERERE ()

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

REZEE RZBE-—FR=-F=
EFE+ZA=F+—HHEZEIK

On that basis, the loss allowances for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were

determined as follows: HEBEREETOT
2021
—E-—F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHERE IREAHE EEEE
HK$°000 HK$’°000
FEr FEr
Current B ER 0.1% 147,221 174
1-30 days 1230k 0.5% 20,507 105
31-60 days 31E60K 2.9% 2,723 79
61-90 days 61290K 39.8% 289 115
91-120 days 91E120K 100.0% 44 44
Over 120 days 120K 100.0% 1,329 1,329
Total et 172,113 1,846
2020
—TTF
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BEEEE ARE A% EBEERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current BIER —* 150,129 30
1-30 days 1230k = 29,825 1
31-60 days 31E60K = 1,657 - -
61-90 days 61E90K - 11 - >
91-120 days 91Z120K - 823 - @5
Over 120 days 120K £ 100.0% 1,805 1,805 * E
Total Bt 184,350 183 o
w

*

* MR %% E 5 RUG RO Y E
WRE - WARERRBEHREEE
BYATERX -

The Group considers the expected credit loss is
insignificant as these trade receivables have no recent
history of default.
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Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at

31 December 2021 and 2020 reconcile to the opening
loss allowances as follows:

FERRE (&)
EZEKIBERBEREBE ()

RZE-_—FR-_FE-_FTF+_-A
T HMEZERFBENERE
EREERY BB RENYIRMT

2020

—E-TF

HK$’000

FEIT

At 1 January »m—HA—H 1,329

Exchange realignment fEE 5 (7)
Loss allowance, net recognised in FARGAEEEEE

consolidated statement of comprehensive #3227 EEE &
income during the year FEE 514
At 31 December W+-—A=+—H 1,836

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than 90
days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.
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Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment allowance policies for trade
receivables (Continued)

During the year, the provision for impairment loss on
trade receivables was recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to
impaired financial assets disclosed in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the customer bases are
widely dispersed despite that 13.3% (2020: 21.2%)
of the trade receivable were due from the Group’s
largest customer and 72.2% (2020: 62.4%) were due
from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance and, if applicable external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial
assets and receivables; and long-term financing
including long-term borrowings. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
bank balances, committed credit lines available and
interest-bearing borrowings which enable the Group
to continue its business for the foreseeable future.

FERR (&)
EZEKIBRBEREBE ()

TR CHEE P RRMET I
BENODRESHEENGSZEK
&k R E 5 e WK R (B 18
e

RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—8" &
ERPHEADE  BEFHEWK
HM13.3% (Z T T F : 21.2%)
TEKEAEBRNGZEARTFE H M
B—EEETFA22% (ZZE=F
F:62.4%) TEKEAREP °

RBES®E M

Ben8BANDRAEENKLE
BT - %%ﬁ%ﬁw%ﬁ$ﬁl
ZEBBETE - RERTE KINEB
?miiéaifm = BER ) (7R
A e

AEBEER RN (BRAEFE
REHemBEERBERE) K
g (BREHER) #HRBE
T AREEEBBRFIARRT
R AT E ARG E EBRE KET
BER #RFESHEEENE &
REBNT] B RABLEHET -
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
and derivative financial liabilities into the applicable
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the end of reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

RBESRRE (&)

TROMRBEMKRE

OERES

HTHRKBARBEEETERITE
cRAaBESBCERIHAER -
PIRBESEARNARMRESRE -

Total In the
contractual Within second to
Carrying undiscounted one year or fifth years,
amount cash flow  on demand inclusive
RE=Z
E1F
BHRER —£R (ERWE
FEE BReRELE FEER BEER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—E+-A=1+—-8
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERNFE
Borrowings TN
Lease liabilities MERE
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF+-F=1-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNFE 118,074 118,074 118,074 -
Borrowings R 8,750 9,058 9,053 -
Lease liabilities MERE 25,312 26,313 9,764 16,549
152,136 153,440 136,891 16,549
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The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (include bank borrowings
and finance lease payables) less cash and bank balances.
Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt,
where applicable.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The gearing ratios
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

AEBEREANE RRREAEEEER
BRE  URRRSREREAEMHE
AR RN YRS HRIERNEARR
BIARREE AR

REFRLFBERRE - AREF AR
XNFRERORESE  RARRERDE
A BITHRIEEEEARDET ©

AEBURRL R BEEEREREEM
R -2 BRLERZFEBHRALE
At 8 o FEHZAER (BRERETER
KR EHE RANFRIR) BIRE MIRTTHER
AHE o MENRGRAMBEAONRAR [
=] IFER (ER) 8 -

AEERKRE AHFREBNERERIU
BRIEEARKARN ARZE-_—FR-_FT-F
F+-A=+—HRERLERNT :

2020

—ET-EF

HK$’000

FET

Borrowings (note 25) B (Mi3E25) 8,750
Less: Bank and cash balances (note 22) & : $R1T IR &84 (FsE22) (99,216)
Net cash FIEE (90,466)
Total equity HarE (364,805)
Total capital FEE=FIN (455,271)
Gearing ratio R TR S N/A @
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The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 by
level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels
within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

As at 31 December 2020, all the Group’s assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are categorised into level 2.

As at 31 December 2021, all the Group’s assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are categorised into level 2,
except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss — current are categorised into level 1.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3.

The following table presents the changes in the Group’s
assets and liabilities carried at fair value for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

T%ﬁﬁ%“$@2ﬁ@&ﬁ%%ﬁA%
BOES  DMAKER-_T_—FR=
Z_TF+ A=+ BRAFEIRD
BENAE - AW ABIRIIZ T XMt
MAOBEARFERBAN=EER

s MHRAEBEEXAEBEERKEEMEN
HE CREHE) (F1E) -

s BRTIFIEMBEOMEIN  ZEE
HBEMNAERNEMBA AR
B#Z (ApImER) EZE (ARA
B) (82/E) -

. AELAELHEETHRRTSK
et A (03T BRE A) (53
B -

R-Z-ZEF+_A=+—8 A&EEM
BRAFEIIENEERABEREAE2

°

E]

RZZBZ—F+A=+—H BREASE
1BEMNEAFEFABEENEMEE —
mENIN  AEBATEEATENENEE
REEHBEAEE -

BE_Z-_—FRh_ZFT-_TF+-_A=1
—HILFERESE - 2R3E 2 HaE o

WIHEREFRBMH ERXSNEMI A (2035
ﬁl\?ﬁilﬂ) WA FE T ERHESAE

cREHMEAAREFERAEERZA
&Eﬂm%%ﬂﬁ TEERVEERELETE
HE M ERETENQAFEMEZEE
BABBEHYITER BRI ASH
TIAE2E -

ﬁJﬁ”*Iﬁ‘iuiZE?&%ﬁ)@Hﬁi#@F

ABEMSEENE R TABRIAS
3 -
TREIBE-Z-_—FR_ZF_TF+

“A=t+ B LEFEAKRERAFER
MEBEENMBENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRWME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIBEBRER (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 QR EME (2)
Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through fair value
Land and Derivative profit or through
building at financial loss-non- profit or
fair value  instruments current  loss-current Total
RATE RATE
BAYE FABRE FTARRR
THEM 15 WEREE  WEREE
THRET $BIA - ¥R -nE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TEL FET AT
For the year ended Bz-T--F
31 December 2021 +-A=t-HItEE
Opening balance MR 21,700 - 13,854 - 35,554
Gain/(loss) recognised in RRA2ERER
consolidated statement of A/ (B8)
comprehensive income - 786 (393) (122) 27
Gain recognised in other REMZANE
comprehensive income Rkl 4,187 - - - 4,187
Addition NE - - - 5,041 5,041
Disposal e - - (1,934) (4,280) (6,214)
Depreciation ik (987) - - - (987)
Settlement &#E = (786) - - (786)
Closing balance BRES 24,900 - 11,527 639 37,066
For the year ended HE-Z-ZF
31 December 2020 TZA=t-BIL%E
Opening balance B 24,600 - 8,621 - 33,221
Gain recognised in consolidated  REAZENREER
statement of comprehensive AR
income - - 356 - 356
Loss recognised in other REM2ERE -
comprehensive income BANER (1,831) - - - (1,831) >
Addition AE - - 9,312 - 9,312 e
Disposal e - - (4,435) . (4,435) 4 .
Depreciation & (1,069) - - - (1,069) % 2
Closing balance HREH 21,700 - 13,854 - 35,554 §
-

3.4

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

34 TREEREMEEBEZIEE

RZZEZ—5+-A=+—H #HELH
BEXTRAEBEXEE - BB RHI1EHR
TR — RGBSR EMBELUZHRR
(ZT=FTF |\) o

As at 31 December 2021, there were no financial assets
or financial liabilities which were subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting or other similar agreements
(2020: nil).
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group’s revenue inflow is highly dependent on
its manufacturing operations on electronic products.
Judgement is required in the area of asset impairment,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
incurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or value-in-use, which is the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions used to
determine the level, if any, of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the projected performance and resulting future
cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

EaT RAE AR EETTHE - LUBER
BERAMAR (BRHERERBERE
IR R EFHIER) REE -

AEBEEARRELEF RRR - NG
FHARTIMEER - ROGHEABRERM
Rl FEEARBREH T EFRFREZE
EMEEZREEELERRBE G

BERFTREAT ©

ME BERREREREEER
BTG

REB W RARKIZE L HKHE
REBEFTEMBERER - EEER
BRI EREHAE - LEZF
B ()VEEAHBRANERTEREE
ErR BRI EMF QBEER
HERESESATREFE (BIRFE
B ER A EREE (AARBRE
BEREERERMGIONABBR
ReRnEMNBEFH) METHERS
)X RQRHEBECRER
ARERNEETZRE A
RS REFRRTE AER L XA
B AREERERRNHEER (2
RASREBAMABMREINIER
KER®R) BAEE - AJREERERR
PRREFREELSTATE M
KT EANKENOMBERRLEEE
A o W TRRIZR IR I A T 2 B A R 2R
BenERABEANTHES A
Al BE AN AR B 2 E W R AR
BEM-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated cost to completion and the estimated
cost necessary to make the sale. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each
statement of financial position date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management estimates the provision for
impairment loss on trade receivables by assessing
their recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade
receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balances may not be collectible and
require the use of estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade receivables and
impairment charge in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

ERASEES

REMBRRMEE

HRENERE

st R Al (&)

(b)

(c)

it RER (&

FENTRERFE
FENAZRFEREAEXHRE
) fib 5 & B RUE BT AR fh ETAK
AEETHERT OB &
FEF D ERIRE TR & &S AL
MHERNBELRMIEL - XP
EFREREFHFRETNITE
BRI ITE) ] BE(E & F (AT
BERNE - EBENSHHEMRR
= AHIER G R EAEE o

g 5 W E

AEBEEEBRENHEZRERER
TR R A Wi [B] 14 3R 5t LR (E S 1R
e BHREMIRFE(CTARE

B AT BE EOX MR B I B AE B A
B RBle sl 8 5 eI KA R &

B HEHEBRERLGETNEE
TH - AAZESTEE SR
R AREENA R BRRGE LR
AR A R (B A 2 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 ERAEESRFEFNTIES:
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S het R HE (2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions FE

(Continued)
(d) Income taxes (d)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in
the period in which such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(e)

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).

For lease of plants, office and warehouse, the
following factors are normally the most relevant:

- if there are significant penalties to terminate (or
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).

- otherwise, the Group considers other factors
including historical lease durations and costs
and business disruption required to replace the
leased asset.

Most extension option in plants, office and warehouse
have been included in the lease liability because
majority of them are profitable and replacing in other
locations will cause business disruption.

REMBRRMEE

ERAAEEETTRENTESS
st R Al ()

FE

(e)

BHETRER (#)
EEE
EREREE EREEEEEL

EFAITEERRERE (HETTRE
RIDEERE) NEERBNMESFE
MBER - EEABEARBHETE RS
B (TR IEEE) K BHEE
1 (bR ER ZROBR) 57
STAHER -

EREE BAERABRE T
51| 2 % SRR

—  RIF(HARER) HEEAET
Fo ARE-RAEERLTR
(HAEIE) »

- B[R AEEZEHMRAE
BEREAFHERYLEREE
BEMBRAREBHE -

B WAERBEBARZHIEHE
BROFAMEERE  REXHS
B BB E A B EK E BT
i -
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Operating segments are determined based on the
information reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segment, has been identified as the Board of Directors of
the Company.

Operating segments are reported in the manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
Group is subject to similar business risk, and resources
are allocated based on what is beneficial to the Group in
enhancing the value as a whole. The Board of Directors
considers the performance assessment of the Group should
be based on the (loss)/profit before income tax of the Group
as a whole and regards the Group as a single operating
segment and reviews internal reporting accordingly.
Therefore, the Board of Directors considers there to be only
one operating segment under the requirements of HKFRS
8 “Operating Segments”.

The Group provides manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, which are carried out internationally, through
the production complexes located in the PRC, Ireland and
Thailand, during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

No assets and liabilities are included in the Group’s segment
reporting that are submitted to and reviewed by the CODM
internally. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.

External customers contribute over 10% of total revenue
of the Group for any of the year ended 31 December are
as follows:

REDHBIBRBEIBELERREA([XE
BEREAN]) ZHNENETE - T2%
ERARAWE/ARRESTE > AENE
REDMNERMFEERE -

REDBNE2HRSAEERHTEELER
RAMAM2HR—2 - AEEEERAUE
BRKR  BERERHRAASEREE
BBEMNWFRASE - EFERRAEEN
RAFHEENNEEBERAABHA
(B18),afiEL BARERE —KE
DEIL AR RS - At - EFE
R REFEMBHREERNFSHR [E
EOR MBRE EBEFE—EEED
o7 o

og

REBEEZFT-_—FR_T-FTF+H=
+—HIEFE  AEESBURTH T
RELEENEERaBREETERE
ERHE (BEERER) -

WEGERZ T EELEREANRAEIEEH
MAKEDMRELBEBEEFNEERLEA
- At B2 DMEERAE -

BET-_A=+—HIEEFE  REKE
EEK S ERBE10%INEZEF AT ¢

2020
—EoEF

HK$’000
FET

Customer A ZEA
Customer B =FB

149,376
124,213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

During the year ended 31 December 2021, majority of
revenue were derived from customers in Europe (mainly the
United Kingdom (the “UK”), Switzerland, Ireland, Denmark
and Sweden), while the remaining revenue were derived
from customers in North America, the PRC (including Hong
Kong), South-east Asia and others (mainly Australia and
Israel).

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at point in
time method.

In relation to non-current assets held by the Group (primarily
represented by property, plant and equipment (note 14)
and right-of-use assets (note 15)), land and buildings with
carrying values as at 31 December 2021 of HK$24,900,000
(2020: HK$21,700,000), are located in Hong Kong. Other
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
primarily located in the PRC and Thailand.

5

REMBRRMEE

DEBER (F£)

I 2 [ 35 3 R
REE-_T-_—F+_A=+—8IHF
B RESBoWBEREABMNES (EBAHKE
([#E]) IWmt B2HH AEEE
M) Epplwamkgdex 1R (BFES
B) FHEakEMmitE (EBERMNE
LAB3I) MEE o

HEE mA W IR BATER o

REEEMBEENERDEE (ZEAEYD
¥ BELERE (HE14) REREEE
(ftsE15)) s - R—E-_—F+-A=
+—H -+ BRE{E A24,900,00087C (= Z
—Z 4 121,700,000 7T ) By i AR T
BRRES - % - BEMRERE
REEEFEMNATELREER -
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2020

—ETF
HK$’000
FET
Revenue =
Sales of goods BEmidE 701,699
Other income, net EH A FEE

Commission income HelA 76
Investment income BEWA 139

Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets AT EF ABRED

at fair value through profit or loss TREERNTE
(B18R),/ Was 356
Government grants (note) BB (A7iE) 4,212
Loss on foreign exchange, net SN B 1B F 5 (2,961)
Scrap material sales income WEEMRLEE A 539
COVID-19 related rent concessions EECOVID-19%E K

HEeER 573
Service income [i5 3N -
Gain on lease modification HEBFT W= -
Sundry income EAET N 493
3,427

Note:

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2021
mainly represents the development support fund for advanced
manufacturing industry and reward for production growth of

wizt -

industrial enterprise received from the PRC Government.

The government grants for the year ended 31 December 2020
mainly represents the COVID-19 related subsidies received from
the PRC Government and the HKSAR Government.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching

to these grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRMERMEE
EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BRUHEESENEHA
Expenses included “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution FAXBEEERAE] [HERDHE
expenses”, “administrative expenses”, and “other operating Al TTBAZ] RITHEMEE R F
expenses, net” are analysed as follows: ] ofmT
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Employee benefit expenses EERNFX
(including directors’ emoluments) (note 8)  (BIFEEES) (fEX8) 179,047 161,538
Depreciation for property, plant and WE - BEREREITE
equipment (note 14) (MF7E14) 12,027 11,487
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE
(note 15(b)) (Mt5E15(0)) 8,826 8,602
Amortisation of insurance expense 1RB 5 S 8 5H 33 33
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR 357 B
— Audit services — BT AR 2,093 1,886
— Non-audit services — FEEET R 769 367
Gain on derivative financial instruments TESmMIT AR (786) -
Obsolete inventories written off (note 20) FREF SIS (HE20) 375 1,997
Expenses related to short-term leases g HIH E B Ak 2 447 170
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME W= MREETE
equipment 29 282
Bad debt written off SRS = 985
Provision for impairment loss on trade B 5 RYBGRIE R BRI #
receivables (note 21(b)) (FtEE21(b)) = 514
Provision for impairment loss on inventories 17 & /B B%4E (Hi3F20)
(note 20) 5,252 2,912

ONVNI4

UL

SINIWILVLIS VI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

BERAMAX (BRESHE)

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Wages, salaries and allowances TE& - #He MR 153,329 140,937
Retirement benefit costs (note) RIRBABK A (k) 25,718 20,403
Share-based payment (note 28) AR 15 B R 3 (M95E28) = 198
179,047 161,538

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no forfeited
contributions were used to reduced the contributions payable
by the Group (2020: nil). No forfeited contribution under the
ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme is available to reduce the

BE-_Z-—F+-_A=1+—HILFE - #E
ERDZ R B ER D AR B R HR (=
ToTFEE) o BUEREAREERIRE B R
e BIET R E SR BAUR D RKFE

contribution payable in future years.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the section

JEAST YR

ESHNENKER

RIB N BHEBI £ 383G I T E FH M

383 of the Companies Ordinance is as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect  BHEAEFES (BHA
of a person’s services as a director, RNAEISEM B AR ZER)
whether of the Company or its Btk S
subsidiary undertaking:
Fees we 720 720
Basic salaries, allowances and AEXHe MK
benefits in kind =k 13,327 13,269
Discretionary bonuses BISTEAT - 958
Termination benefits BER A - 690
Employer’s contribution to a retirement BRIRENTENEIHT
benefit scheme 1,674 1,209
Share-based payment VARR 1D B EE TR 3R - 140
15,721 16,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any Directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to Directors as compensation
for the early termination of the appointment during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

HK$690,000 was paid to Mr. Georges René Gener,
a former Director of the Company, as compensation
for the early termination of his appointment during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

Save as disclosed above, no other payment was
made to the former employer or Directors for making
available the services of them as a Director of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of Directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and connected entities with such Directors during the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
nil).

REMBRRMEE

9 EENEMNRER (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEERIRER

REZz-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
IEE BERENEEaHEER
K@ﬂﬁﬁ%%“ﬂ%ﬁmﬁ@%

%1 Sz A sl PR U AT m] iR AR AR F)
ZEFE)

EECEBEBER
REE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
HEE BERIREKRLEZTMmMA
BEY AN RIEAERE -

REBE—_Z-_FTF+-_A=+—H
IEFEE ERRELKLEZImMAAR
A ARIEE EGeorges René Gener
P HE X 690,00058 TTE A B (8 -

RERHESREEMAES SR
2R

BEXBBEEN  ABE-T-—
F+-A=t-ALEE BER
RRUEEREMALIEATE
EHLAETAEF LN L RE
—EoTE @)

FRANES HEBRESZHNZE
ErEHFHEENERAZEALZ
EX - RERRHEMXZZ2EH

REE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
IHFE BEEENES BmEH
EETEHMNEERHRESHENE
BAXHZAZER EERREA
R (ZEZZTF  |]) °

BEERXE  ZRHRE
R

AARBEI L EEENERERE
KEZEAEREE MR FRIE
EZE_—F+HA=1+—HILHF
EEREEIDATFERARRRER

EBRAZEARS THEREH (ZF
ZTF ) e

WP Z2EKX
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The remuneration of every director for the years ended HE-_Z - —FRk_Z_FF+=

31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below: A=+—HIEFESESFHFMOT
Basic Employer’s
salaries, contribution
allowances to retirement  Share-
and benefits Discretionary ~ Termination benefit based
Fees in kind bonuses benefits scheme  payment Total
Exge. BEER URH
2R HEN RER

fe  EORY  BRRL  BEREN  RIHR i it
HKS000  HKE000  HKE000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
23 TEL FET FAT AT TET TR

2021 Ik S5

Executive Directors Hi7ES

Mr. Lai Yiu Wah Riggft

M. Tai Leung Lam FRMEE

Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy &

Independent BUkdnES
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Chun Chung BEREE

M. Cheung Kin Wing FRALE

Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam &5k 4

2020 “3°%
Executive Directors Hi7ES
Mr. Lai Yiu Wah Riggnt - 4,560 310 - 568 49 5417
Mr. Tai Leung Lam FRMEE - 4,450 310 - 558 49 5,367
Mr. Joseph Mac Carthy Joseph Mac Carthy 4 - 3,900 310 - 93 42 4,345
Mr. Georges René Gener Georges René Gener’t &

(note i) (Bt - 359 2 690 - - 1,077
Independent BuFHTES

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Chun Chung BEREE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Cheung Kin Wing FRELAE 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. Wong Raymond Fook Lam ~ BBH%4 240 - - - - - 240

720 13,269 958 690 1,200 140 16,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Directors’ emolument (Continued)
Note:

(i) Mr Georges René Gener resigned as a director of the
Company with effect from 15 February 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a Director or
the chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the years ended 31 December
2021 included 3 Directors (2020: 3 Directors) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining 2
individuals during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: 2 individuals) are as follows:

9

REMBRRMEE

ESNEMNRER (&)

(f)

(9)

EE=Me
Hyat

()  Georges René Generct £ —Z
—EZF-_RA+AHBBITARAE
=

REE-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
HFEE BEERETBITHRABTE
THHESRERECHEGH (=
ZTF E) e

TEBEHEMAL
HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—H1
FE AEEREBESFHALE
BERAOMTRMERNSHIRES
—ETF 3FESR) HE_E
——F+-_A=+-—HBHLFE &
N T2RENAL (Z2 22 F
2FERIAL) MBS T ¢

2021 2020
—E-—F —EToFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Basic salaries, allowances and AEXHe MR

benefits in kind ki=p 2,948 6,336
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 182 430

Employer’s contribution to RIRFE R 8890 =K
retirement benefit scheme 368 162
Share-based payment VARS 17 B EERE A 3k = 4
3,498 6,932
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The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within

the following band is as follows:

FHNFUATHRENIFESE RIETT
Bias &= EEARINT

2020
—EToEF
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000 7T -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7c2 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T %= 2,000,000 7T -
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001t £2,500,000 T -
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 Tt £3,000,0007 T -
HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7t 23,500,000/ T -
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001/ 7t 24,000,000/ 7T, -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7t 24,500,000/ 7T -
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7t 25,000,000/ 7T -
HK$5,000,001 - HK$5,500,000 5,000,001t £5,500,0007 7T 1
2020
— 7 — ¢
HK$’000
FEIT
Finance income RN
Bank interest income HRITHLEWA 874
Finance income 3N 874
Finance expenses B =
Interest on bank borrowings HRITIE A B
— Wholly repayable within five years —ZBRAFARZEEE (1,567)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15(b)) HEEEF E(FMIFE15(0) (1,027)
Other finance expenses H B 52
Bank charges RITUE (4,730)
Finance expenses g 3 (7,324)
Finance expenses, net BIEBFEE (6,450)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 11

The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement

Frigst (%), X
FERERBRARESENT :

of comprehensive income represents:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
btaE FHET FET
Current income tax: BRERFRS R -
- Hong Kong — BB (a) 4,766 3,565
— Other jurisdictions — Eb RARER (b) = 4,987
4,766 8,502
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHRERE (4,833) (45)
Deferred tax (credit)/expense ERERIE (KE), X
(note 18(c)) (FizE18(c)) (4,844) 357
Income tax (credit)/expense ISR (%), X (4,911) 8,814
Notes: G
(@)  Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong @ BESEFEHONESHMES &8

Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in
Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.
The Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits for
the qualifying group entity and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2021.

No provision for corporate income tax in other jurisdictions
has been made as the Group has no assessable incomes
in the relevant jurisdictions for the year ended 31 December
2021. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

1% & 8 & §2 2,000,000/ 7T 3% I #) B
% % 58.25% + M & 12,000,000 JT
B M BT R B16.5% ° TR A& FI15 5
M H BB EE TGN EFER
16.5%M G —MEBWHRBE - BHE_T
—EFRZFE—F+ZA=+—AH1L
FE - AEREEE 2,000,000/ T
HETERBEF N B BB HIL8.25%
HE - M#BB2,000,00058 7T Y 51 FE AR
PN EBNEHAIEZ16.5%1E °

AR AREERBE-_E-_—F+_-A=
+—RALFEREMAEAEER I ERE
REWA - WA EAEEREE SR E
HEMSHEH BET-_TF+
ZAZ+—RALFEE REMAEER
EAXNBEEAB I ERRNRITHE

s
=15
al=+ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PN e e
11 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FiiE8 (&)

The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income represents: (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax

425 )
\/“Q

BETHURBRABESHENOT : (&)

AEERASHAT (BR), SRFHEa
RERRENNRERGFEZERmBEER

rate applicable to profits as follows: m
2021 2020
—E-—F —EToEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISBLAT (E518) = F (15,495) 37,695
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% EHE16.5% (ZT =T F :
(2020: 16.5%) 16.5%) ;F 8 2 Fi1E (2,557) 6,219
Effect of different tax rates in HEMBERTEHENZE
other countries (2,665) 1,618
Income not subject to tax BARBUBA (463) (1,929)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset I SIERIRIEFTSIEE
was recognised Z BB E 2,603 167
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AR NF 3,249 2,949
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FRABTRTHERZ
tax loss HIAEE (80) -
Overprovision in prior years B FERBEE (4,833) (45)
Concession tax rate BT R (165) (165)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frs® (%), X (4,911) 8,814

12 Bk (BER) &F

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a)

The basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated on
the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary

BREX (BB BF

FREX (BR), BNTIRART
A ARG (BE),aFBRIABE
TEC-FR-TTHEL+ A=

shares in issue during the years ended 31 December T HLEFREEHTEABINEF
2021 and 2020. HREEE -
2021 2020
:g: - E'E — 7 —= E'E
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RNATHEA ANEWN (EB1B),/
of the Company (HK$’'000) WA (&) (10,584) 28,881
Weighted average number of ordinary BT AR 0 T AR B
shares in issue (thousand shares) (FR&) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share FREAR (BR),/
(HK cents) 2 (AL (1.06) 2.89
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

REMBRRMEE

12 8k (BR)BF (&)
(b) SREE (ER) BF
SREE (B18),/ BFHEBAE
B ATAE D NHE T 49 3 38 AR AR A R
RERHETHE BB -

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share was the same as BHREBZE-ZZ-—FR-ZF-FF
basic (loss)/earnings per share due to the absence of T+ A=+ —HIEFETEETEH
dilutive potential ordinary shares for the years ended EEER - At SREE (58
31 December 2021 and 2020. BFEGREXR (EB) &7
A o
13 DIVIDENDS 13 KE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FEIT
Interim dividend paid of ENTHREEREBRE
nil (2020: HKO.8 cent) (ZZEZZF : 0.881)
per ordinary share - 8,000
Proposed final dividend of EEABREGREBERE
nil (2020: HK1.2 cents) (ZZEZZF - 1.28(0)
per ordinary share (note) (B5) - 12,000
- 20,000
Note: Hizt -

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK1.2 cents per
ordinary share).

EEgTREMBE T —F+-A=1—
BUEFERERBRE (ZE_FF: k&
AR1.278)
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

14 Y% - BERRE

Land & Plant&  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold
buildings  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles  improvements Total
1 BE FE BAE AENE
REF R#H R%E #f hE £ &t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEr FEr FEr FEn FEr FEr FEn
Year ended HECRC-F
31 December 2021 TZA=T-BLEE
Net book value at RZE--%-A-H
1 January 2021 MEEFE 21,700 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 53,678
Exchange realignment BHEE - (1,611) (418) 9) (28) (232) (2,298)
Additions AE - 11,570 1,812 129 122 2,763 16,396
Surplus on revaluation BiERE 4,187 - - - - - 4,187
Disposals e = (1) (449) ) - - (457)
Depreciation ok (987) (6,208) (2,565) (148) (435) (1,684  (12,027)
Balance as at RZE--F
31 December 2021 T-R=t-BaEs 24,900 23,283 4,723 42 1,126 5,035 59,479
At 31 December 2021 NBC--F
tzA=1-8
Cost or valuation KA fEE 24,900 63,406 22,930 3,970 4,260 31,308 150,774
Accumulated depreciation  Z3t47% - (40,123)  (18,207) (3,558) (3,134) (26273)  (91,295)
Net book value at W-E=-F
31 December 2021 t-R=t-H
NEEEE 24,900 23,283 4723 412 1,126 5,035 59,479
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 9% BERSK®E (&)

(Continued)
Land & Plant&  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold Construction
buildings  machinery fixtures equipment  vehicles improvements  in progress Total
1 BR BE HAZ BEN%
kT R R%E Bl hE 28 HEIR gt
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK8'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FEr FEr FEn FEn FEr FEn fEr  FEn
Year ended BE-5-%F
31 December 2020 TZA=t-ALEE
Net book value at HEZ-Z-ZE
1 January 2020 -F-RNREFE 24,600 19,436 7,587 487 1,611 4444 260 58,375
Exchange realignment BHHEE - () 18 - - 78 13 106
Additions AE - 5,208 1,548 138 328 1,575 - 8,797
Transfer g3 - 273 - - - - (279) -
Deficit on revaluation ElR) (1,831) - - - - - - (188
Disposals i - - 21 7 - (254) - (282)
Depreciation it (1,069) (5,381) (2,789 (121) (472) (1,659) - (11,487)
Balance as at RZZ-%E
31 December 2020 TZA=T-HMER 21700 19,533 6,343 a7 1,467 4188 - 53,678
At 31 December 2020 V\_ECF
+ZA=1H
Cost or valuation T 21,700 53,310 22,292 3,968 4,169 28,801 - 13423
Accumulated depreciation 2z & - (33,777) (15,949) (3,516) (2,702 (24,613) - (80557)
Net book value at 31 RZE-FF
December 2020 TZA=+-BH
FETE 21,700 19,533 6,343 447 1,467 4,188 - 58,678
The analysis of the cost or valuation at 31 December 2021 of the above assets is as follows:
FHEER B —FF+ A=+ HORASEEITOT :
Land & Plant &  Furniture & Office Motor Leasehold
buildings  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements Total
ti BE FE BAE AENE
it £ RH#H R#E B hE &8 st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEr F&r FEr FiEr 77 F&r FEr
At cost RAR - 23,283 4,723 412 1,126 5,035 34,579
At valuation BB 24,900 - - - - - 24,900
24,900 23,283 4,128 412 1,126 5,035 59,479
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, depreciation
expense of HK$6,208,000 and HK$5,819,000 (2020:
HK$5,819,000 and HK$6,106,000) was charged to “Cost
of sales” and “Administrative expenses” respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s land and buildings
are held under medium term leases (unexpired period
between 20 years to 50 years) and the carrying amounts
of land and buildings pledged as part of the securities for
banking facilities from a bank amounted to HK$24,900,000
(2020: HK$21,700,000) (note 25(b)).

The Group’s land and building was valued at 31 December
2021 and 2020 by independent professionally qualified
valuers who hold a recognised relevant professional
qualification and had recent experience in the locations
and segments of the assets valued. For land and building,
the current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group’s chief financial officer ("CFO") reviews the
valuations performed by the independent valuers for
financial reporting purposes. CFO reports directly to the
chairman of the board (the "Chairman"). Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the
CFO, the Chairman, and the valuers annually. As at 31
December 2021, the fair values of the land and building
were determined by Ascent Partners Group Limited (2020:
Ascent Partners Group Limited).

BE_ZE-_—F+t-_A=+—HIFE
r £ & F6,208,000/8 7T }5,819,000
B (ZE ZF F 15,819,000 7T &
6,106,000/ 7T) D RIFT A TSR AE | &
[FTERBAS ] -

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8 KEEZ
T REFAEP ALY GRaHEA
20F E50%) 8 - UNREIRIF L KiE
F(EABRITRENERITRENIHE
%) BRE 1 A24,900,0008 L (T2 - &
1 21,700,000/ 7C) (FsE25(b)) °

REENTHEBFR_Z—FR_F
TEF+ A=+ HHBELAERE L
HEMGHE  ZEHEMAEERATNAER
EEER  WEGHEEEMME RS ET
AN ER - T REFNS @ B
FAZREENEa MRERAR -

AEENERMBE ((BRMEE]D &
BEERBEEM M B RS ETOMR
B BFRMBEEERAEZTSEEE (X
Bl #®E - BEMBE - TFMEEM
FBERGEBRRERETH® - NF
“—F+ZA=+—H  tREFHQ
FEANAEEERAR (ZT_F4F:
NHEBEARRAR) EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

At each financial year end, the finance division:

° verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

o assesses property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation report; and

° holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Valuation techniques

For land and building, the valuation was determined using
the sales comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in
key attributes such as property size. The most significant
input into this valuation approach is price per square
foot, which is approximately amounted to HK$6,250 per
square foot for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$5,447 per square foot).

LEASE

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

14

15

REMBHRME

W% MERSKE (&)

rEBWKEERE (2)
RESIFRSEE - B

s REBUMEHREZIMBEIZHA
B

o NUBBEFEZMERSEEH ¥
EYELEES K

o HUFVAEREW o

HERD

R REFME  HERBHEELEE
BEE - AT BMENHEER SRR
MEXNEHRBRBUEZEMAR - ZHE
AREBENHBEESFIRZER 82

:%:—¢+—H—+ Eiifﬁt¥
%5,4477&5@

HE
A EEARMEA - BIARN R SR
Bt

(a) REEUBRRREIANSE

REMBAAREINATEBES
FARY S -

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Buildings BF 14,378 23,200

Lease liabilities HEER

Current ik 7,537 9,207
Non-current JERED 8,561 16,105
16,098 25,312

Additions to the right-of-use assets during year
ended 31 December 2021 were HK$486,000 (2020:
HK$10,271,000).

HE-_Z-_—HF+-_A=+—81
ir‘@ﬁﬁ 7 & £ 5 2486,00078 JT
(ZZ=F% : 10,271,000 7T) °
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The consolidated statement of comprehensive income GEFHEHBEXRHIIATEHEAES
shows the following amounts relating to leases: RS 5E -
2020
—E_THF
HK$’000
FAET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (FFHEEEAEITER Y
(note 7) (MHE7)
— Buildings —EF 8,602
Interest expenses (included in finance RS
expenses) (note 10) GTABBRAX)
(M¥zE10) 1,027

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was
HK$10,145,000 (2020: HK$9,134,000).

The Group leases various offices, warehouses,
factory, staff dormitory and car parking spaces. Non-
cancellable rental contracts are typically made for
periods of one to three years. The Group also leases
various warehouses and factory under cancellable
rental contracts. The option to terminate the leases
are described in note (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

REMBHRME

BAVEFABRERNESMEE

2021 2020

—E-—F —TEF

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

BtaE F#ET FEIT

Unlisted key man insurance contracts 3f F T2 8RB E 4 (i) 9,086 8,816

Unlisted fund investments FETESERE (ii) 2,441 5,038

Listed equity investment EmBRAEE (ii) 639 -

12,166 13,854

Less: Non-current portion T SERENE (11,527) (13,854)

Current portion TRENER 639 -
Notes: Miet -

(i)

(i

(ii)

The amount represented the investment element of key
man insurances purchased for an executive Director of the
Company and a senior management of the Group. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, an increase in fair value
of HK$270,000 (2020: HK$194,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured over key man insurances with the carrying amounts
of HK$9,086,000 (2020: HK$8,816,000) (Note 25(b)).

The fund investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as these were held for
trading. The fund investments were valued at observable
prices of comparable investments. During the year ended
31 December 2021, a decrease in fair value of HK$663,000
(2020: an increase of HK$38,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The equity investment was classified as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss as it was held for trading.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, a decrease in fair
value of HK$122,000 (2020: an increase of HK$124,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

(i

(ii)

ZEBEARNR —EBRTEERAEH
— AR EEEMEEZERRBNIRE
nTE - HEZT-_—F+-_A=+—H
HEEE R 2EKERAERA
1B g tu27o,ooo/% T(ZEZTF:
194,000 7T) °

RNRZE-_—F+_A=+—H0 K&£E
$R1TE A BRE(E £9,086,000/8 LA &
BREEAEM (ZZTZZF : 8,816,000
BIr) (MsE25(b)) °

ZEESWECHEARATEFARE
HENESREE DHRZERERS
ERXGHE - 2FESRE DR EL
REENAEREREE BE-_T=
—FE+-A=+—RLFE  REL2
T U 25 5% 7 2R A F B U8 663,000 7T
—Z —T4F ¢ #H038,000/87T) °

FZEAREE B AR AT EFAER
ROWSRERE  EREEEAFBIER
SA% - %5 T——¢+ A=+—
HIEFE s zmEks EEI’W!E”/}
FER A 122,000 T (ZE=F
$1124,000%7¢) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M| RME

17 PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

17 EBENRERZESE

2021 2020

—E-—F - 3

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

Prepayments TR RIE 10,058 18,879
Rental, utility and other deposits M NAFEREMZRS 15,303 12,776
25,361 31,655

Less: non-current portion B IEREE D

Prepayments SENEE (1,831) (1,864)
Current portion mENER 23,530 29,791
The carrying amounts of deposits of the Group approximate AEEZSHNEFEEEEEN T -_—F K
their fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. —E_EF+_A=+—HZA¥EME

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions. The movements on

++

Eo

18 ELEFBEH

the deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(a) Deferred tax assets

(a) ELEHREE

BIEFRS T TR A B BA R ER A Z R AR
AR AEERNERNETHGNHE - BT
FSREERABESINT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FEIT

At 1 January wn—A—H = 214
Credited/(charged) to consolidated RiEarEBERA

statement of comprehensive income 5t A (31%)
(note c) (FsEe) 4,754 (214)
At 31 December Rt+t—A=+—8H 4,754 -

Note:

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefits through the future taxable profits is probable.

et
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRWME
18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 18 EZEFTBH (&)
Deferred tax liabilities (b) EEFIEEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 1 January n—H—H 3,947 4,098
Credited to other comprehensive sAHMEmEmWE
income 312 (294)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated REFEE2EWEERA
statement of comprehensive (GPNVE
income (note ¢) (FtsEe) (90) 143
At 31 December wnt+—_A=+—H 4,169 3,947
Note: Bist -

(c)

(d)

(e)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for accelerated tax
depreciation.

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

(c)

EFETR TR B B Y i 0 D0 3E 5 IR 7 & W e

5
7
e ©

REEEZEBRERA (FFA) R
HYIE SE B T8

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

Deferred tax assets (note a) FEEFIBEE (HifFa) (4,754) 214

Deferred tax liabilities (note b) EERIEEE (Kiitb) (90) 143

Deferred tax (credited)/charged REEE2mEERA

to consolidated statement of (BT A),/ B EIE

comprehensive income (note 11) I (BsE11) (4,844) 357

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected
to be utilised/settled after more than 12 months.

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$5,413,000 as at 31
December 2021 (2020: HK$5,764,000) have not
been recognised for the withholding tax that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of certain subsidiaries. Unremitted earnings as
at 31 December 2021 is HK$108,259,000 (2020:
HK$115,272,000).

(d)

(e)

EEREBEEEREBRITNEB12
BABGER &5 -

R-ZEBE-—F+ZA=+—-HB" i
ARBETHELARKRELZRFE
NHEANHEBERNECR EAE
55,413,000 T (Z E - F F:
5,764,000/ T) e R=—F = — §
+ZA=+-BEMAEHBANB
108,259,000 T (Z & = & F :
115,272,000 7T ) °

Annual Report 2021 FE &

I
SINIWILVLS TVIONVYNIS

161




Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Place of incorporation

KRB —FR-_E_FTFF+_A=+—

BZEXEMNBARFENT :

or establishment and Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity Principal activities paid-in capital by the Company
BPVET A L
DAER AREREER TEER BRTREARE rAAREZERER
2020
It S 33
Directly held:
EERE:
Trio Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability  Sale of electronic product 200,000 shares 100%
company HK$20,000,000
HETRERAR &8/ BRELRA HEETER 200,0008%
20,000,000
Professional Electronics Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited company HK$10,000
LT IERBERAR &8/ BREERT HEETER 10,0008 A& 13
10,0007
Deltrix Limited Hong Kong/Limited liability ~ Sale of electronic product 10,000 shares 100%
company HK$10,000
EYHHERAA &8/ BRELAA HETTER 10,000 13
10,0007
Indirectly held:
BEEE:
Panyu Trio Microtronics Co., Ltd. The PRC/Wholly Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100%
foreign-owned enterprise product US$5,000,000
BN ERHENERERAT hE/NEBELE REETED EARE
5,000,000% 7
Guangzhou Professional Electronics  The PRC/Wholly Sale of electronic product Paid-in capital 100%
Manufacturing Solutions Limited foreign-owned enterprise RMB500,000
ENEREFIEREERAT hE/NEBELE HEBTERD EARA
AR 500,000
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Place of incorporation

or establishment and Issued and Effective interest held
Company name type of legal entity Principal activities paid-in capital by the Company
BIDVET A LD
NRER HEERESR TEEHK BRTREARE KRAARECERER
2020
It S 33
Indirectly held: (Continued)
BiEEE: (£)
Trio-tronics Manufacturing Global Ireland/Limited liability Global sourcing and purchase 100,000 shares 100%
Limited company of materials, sales and EUR100,000
marketing, service support
ERR/ARELAA SIRREREEMH 100,008 {7
HEREH  RBXH 100,00080 7T
Deltrix (Europe) Limited Ireland/Limited liability Manufacturing of electronic 100,000 shares 100%
company components EUR100,000
EBW/ BRELLA HESTHH 100,000 (3
100,0008 7T
Trio-Tronics (Thailand) Limited Thailand/Limited liability Manufacturing of electronic Paid-in capital 100%
company product THB38,000,000
RE/ERELAA HEBTER EARA
38,000,003 8
2020
—ETF
HK$’000
FAT
Raw materials R4 H 94,776
Work in progress RS 22,664
Finished goods RUAK T 11,129
Goods in transit HEEm 4,362
132,931

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in “Cost of sales” amounted to HK$483,252,000
for the vyear ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$418,587,000). For the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Group recognised a provision for impairment loss on
inventories of HK$5,252,000 (2020: HK$2,912,000) and
written off obsolete inventories of HK$375,000 (2020:
HK$1,997,000). These amounts were recognised in “Other
operating expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

BE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HIEE "
BRAAIYIHAIHEHERNA WFE
X 7R £483,252,0008 70 (Z T — T 4 ¢
418,587,000/7L) - HE-_T—_—F+=
A=1T—HBIHE T£EERAFERE
&5 18 % 155,252,000 T (T4 :
2,912,000/ ) &R &5 i $5375,000
BT (ZZ-FF 11,997,000 7T) ° %
ELBNEEEEMNERD [HLELH
SOREE | NERER -
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2020

—ETHF

Note HK$'000

llogz3 FET

Trade receivables Z 5 EWRIE (a) 184,350

Less: Provision for impairment loss on i : 2 5 FEUGKIE

trade receivables WIEE R (b) (1,836)

Trade receivables — net B S EWGRIA — F 58 182,514

Other receivables H i FEURIE 530

183,044

Under the factoring arrangement with banks, the Group RBERTCHREBLZY - AREDHSE

has transferred certain trade receivables to the factor in TESREFAERZRIEANRIER

exchange for cash and is prevented from selling or pledging T WHRIFHESEREYIE - AE

the receivables. The Group has legally transferred all of EE SRR E S EYCGRIBF A NG

the risks and rewards of ownership of the discounted R Lk EBROZEERE LTEERT R

trade receivables to the financial institutions. The carrying B EHRIGRREERAENERIRER
amounts of the trade receivables exclude receivables which BERR R Y UL TR -

are subject to the factoring arrangement.

Notes: Bt -

(a) Trade receivables arise from trading of electronic (a)
products. The payment terms of trade receivables
granted to third party customers generally range from
full payment before shipment to 75 days after the end
of month. The aging analysis of the trade receivables
based on invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

EIRBREREEEEFEM -
BTE=FTEFNEZREFIAEN
NHRERE - RBEEEMEENRE
RiER76R - RBEEFEZRH - |E
HI R0 E 5 & WK IR &Y BR fie 0 4T 40
T

2020
—ECEF

HK$’000
FET

Below 30 days 30KATR
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60X
Over 60 days 60K A

103,917
49,062
31,381

184,350

Trade and other receivables are past due when a
counterparty has failed to make a payment when
contractually due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables of
HK$147,221,000 (2020: HK$150,129,000) were not
yet past due.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no significant financial difficulty and
based on past experience, the overdue amounts can

21

B REMEBWRKE (&)

(a)

4= )
(W=

R_E-_—F+-_A=+—8" %
S FNIE147,221,0008 7T (=&
Z T4 1 150,129,000/ 7T) 5 A

Hj -

EEEMEY EEEZ B S EWHIA
HERWBEBAMBRENBLE
FAER  REBELR  ATRDEZ
FERHMFIA - % FRBFIANRER

be recovered. The aging analysis of these receivables DT -
is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Past due by: wH
Below 30 days 30 KR 20,507 29,825
Between 31 and 60 days 31E60X 2,723 1,657
Over 60 days B60KIA £ 1,662 2,739
24,892 34,221

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables

AREBEE P EYGFIAZREERT

are denominated in the following currencies: H|EEE :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
uss$ EP 168,224 180,014
RMB AR 3,184 3,930
HK$ BT 547 148
EUR BT 158 258
172,113 184,350
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The movements on provision for impairment loss on
trade receivables are as follows:

ZoRBFBRESERESH N
T

2020
—ETF
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January n—H—H 1,329
Exchange realignment b H (7)
Loss allowance, net FARGEEZHE
recognised in consolidated statement Wk RERZ EE
of comprehensive income during the year B R 58
(note 7) (Ff3E7) 514
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1,836

The creation and release of provision for impairment
loss on trade receivables have been included in
“Other operating expenses, net” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Amounts
charged to the allowance account are generally
written off, when there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
Information about the impairment of trade receivables
and the Group’s exposure to credit risk and foreign
currency risk can be found in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B 55 i MR8 (8 5 2 e
BB DH AR RENRER [ £
WERSUTE] 7 - HABBEZR
B — A TR A M B RS S
-

_—f— B f’f%&ﬁi\@%ﬂﬂb Y
FREEREATEERS -

AEERBEBMISRE LR FEOH
B AT EEHEERE £Y
FTEEZERFIEFERAHESE
BEE - EEE S ERFERESN
ﬁﬂ&$i@ﬁ%m:f NN
BRBRSE W%ﬁ%%ﬁsw

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET

Restricted bank deposits (note (a)) ZRRHIRITE (MizE@))

6,139

Time deposit up to three months BE=E A TR E TR 50,000

Bank and cash balances RIT R4

49,216

99,216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRME

22 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22 ERFEBETEREBITREASLE

AND CASH BALANCES (Continued)

Notes:

(@@ The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary of the Group as set out in note
25(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  The carrying amount of restricted bank deposits, time
deposit up to three months, cash and bank balances
of the Group are denominated in the following

Wyt

(a) AKENZRGBIBVITERSFRR
RITOEFHR - MMERGEATHREK
B FE25(0) P EL X T A5 18 — R Y 8
RAIMERTTRLE 2 AR

(o) AEEWZRHRITENR /SHP=
A A TR EMER - B KR
TTRESRHREEM T EHEHE

currencies:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTHF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#T FET
HK$ BT 54,040 72,395
US$ EIT 9,566 23,370
RMB AR 1,514 5,558
EUR BT 3,316 1,021
THB Ik 481 2,973
Other currencies H b gk 13 38
68,930 105,355

(c) The Group’s bank and cash balances included
the following for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

) MHEEHERERMES  AEKEH
RITMIRSERBEIATIER -

2021 2020

—E-—F —TEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Time deposit up to three months A =1E A s A TR EBER 20,000 50,000
Bank and cash balances RIT IR ek 42,790 49,216
Cash and cash equivalents HERIBSEEY 62,790 99,216

The restricted deposits, time deposit up to three
months, and bank and cash balances are at fixed
interest rate range from 0.10% to 0.2% per annum
(2020: 0.001% to 0.2%) as at 31 December 2021 and
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risk.

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—H %
RHFEzR - BH=EAxATHTE
HEFRARBITRRGEHRIZET
FF R EE0.10%520.2% (—Z T —
TF :0.001%£0.2%) T2 © Allt
AR A FERERRE
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2020

—EFF

Note HK$’000

Jiik3 FET
Trade payables B 5 3RIA (a) 95,693
Trust receipts ErtiliE 14,211
Accruals and other payables FEET N H A FE S FIE 19,884
129,788

Notes: Bt -

(@) The credit terms of trade payables granted by the
vendors generally range from full payment before
shipment to net 180 days. The aging analysis of
trade payables based on invoice date at the end of

reporting period is as follows:

ENRTHESENFEANEES
—RALEME2HENRERER180
ANE - REZZAH HMEHKR
B BN RIERE T T

2020
—E-FTF
HK$’000
FET

Below 30 days
Between 31 and 60 days
Over 60 days

30KRLAT
31E60K
60K LA

42,161
37,180
16,352

95,693

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

(0)

AEBEEZEMNFRBZKREEAT
SIEEEEHE -

2020
a3

HK$’000

FET

HK$ BT 17,674
uss$ = 36,220
RMB AR 40,021
EUR BT 1,298
Other currencies Hih g 480
95,693
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had
recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with

=

S —FR-ZEFFF+_A=1+—

REMBHRME

B A&RBECHEIATEEFPEHBEN

customers: a
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Contract liabilities AHafk 45,370 3,453
(a) Significant change in contract liabilities (a) EHEBMNEKREH

(b)

(c)

The Group receives payments from customers based
on billing schedule as established in contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance under the
contracts which are mainly from sales of goods.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the amounts of the revenue
recognised for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 which relates to carried-forward contract
liabilities.

(b)

AEBERBAORENEERER
BEPBENR - BEREANRERN
WENHE  TERBHEEER -

RENEERINHKE

TRBFUHBHE_ZT-_—FR_T =
ZE+-_A=+—HIFECER
mAES OB EEROREEE -

2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Revenue recognised that was FFAREVIENEEERD
included in the contract liabilities BRI
balance at the beginning of the year
Sales of goods HEEm 2,138 1,091

Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of goods

The Group has applied the practical expedient to
exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be
recognised in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date for
its sales contracts for electronic products as the
performance obligations have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

(c)

HEHEEERERNRETEN

ARETERHEESANNBOE
RIEFTHRA—FXER  AKHE
EXRABZIEBRET L #nH
BB FRHEN AR REREO BH R RE
AHFEENEF A OMEER Wt o
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2020

—ETF

Note HK$’000

Btaz F&r

Term loans EEEN (a) 4,468
Insurance premium loan RBER (@) 4,282
Revolving loan BIRER (@) -
8,750

The Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows (without
taking into account the Repayment on Demand Clause as
detailed in Note (a) below):

yoo

EIGE)

AEBHNEREEBEROT CREARTX
B 3 (a) T L i B SR AE

2020
—ETEF
HK$°000
FHET
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,327
Between 1 and 2 years 1EZE2F 2,374
Between 2 and 5 years 2F BHF 4,049
8,750

Notes: B 5#:
(@)  As these loans include a clause that gives the lender (a) HERZFEFRBE—BEEABTE

the unconditional right to call the loans at any times TAEBBHEENEEARBAEDE

(“Repayment on Demand Clause”), according to HK
Interpretation 5 “Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause”
which requires the classification of whole term loans
containing the Repayment on Demand Clause as
current liabilities, these loans were classified by the
Company as current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the total
borrowings pledged by certain assets and their
carrying values are shown as below:

A (REREEBRR])  REBE
BREFLW [MBERRNINE — 55K
AEBERERBREGRZEHE
R2oME] EREFHESRENX
BEGKFNEZHMERSBER/RDE
& ZEEREALGEARFRE
RREBEE -

b) RZEBE-—FR-_FT-_FTF+_-H
=t+—B UETEEERRNSZ
ERNRERBEEMRIDT

2020
—ETF
HK$°000
FEIT

Property, plant and equipment YIZE - R Rkt (MIEE14)
(note 14) 21,700

Financial assets at fair value through 12X F{Eit ABZEERER

profit or loss- non-current (note 16) & @EE-IERE (MizE16) 8,816
Restricted bank deposits (note 22)  ZRHIR1TER (Hizr22) 6,139
36,655
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The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest
rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at
end of the reporting period are as follows:

R EBR - A% E S R e A
zEgeEk ke R B TEBBANA
T

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET

Variable rate BE)F R

8,750

The fair value of current borrowings equals their
carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

The effective interest rate of bank borrowings are
2.80% per annum for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: 3.53% per annum).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

HRTRFEILIFEAN - BIHER
Z R EREEREEMRS

HE-_FT-_—F+=-A=+—H
EFE - RITEXNERF R =X
B280% (ZE —_Z F: FF X
3.53%) °

AREBERBREEATIIEES
& :

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
FET

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT

4,468
4,282

8,750

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing
facilities:

RSB A T i R B2 BUAY £ SR
B

2020

—E-THF

HK$'000

FET

Expiring within one year R—E R E|Ef 219,922
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2020

e S 34
Number of
shares Amount
= £
HK$'000
FET

Issued and fully paid BRTRERE
At the beginning and the end of the of the year ~ REFRER

1,000,000,000 281,507

Other capital reserves as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 represent the aggregate paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment
costs in subsidiaries of the Company during the
reorganisation.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of those group companies
incorporated in the PRC, the group companies are
required to appropriate 10% of their profits after
tax, as determined in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and the
Accounting System for Business Enterprises and
other regulations applicable to group companies,
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the group
companies. The appropriation to the reserve must be
made before any distribution of dividends to holders
of the group companies. The statutory surplus reserve
can be used to offset previous years’ losses, if any,
and part of the statutory surplus reserve can be
capitalised as the group companies’ capital provided
that the amount of such reserve remaining after the
capitalisation shall not be less than 25% of the capital
of the group companies.

Revaluation reserve as at 31 December 2021 and
2020 represent the revaluation of land and buildings
held by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESERVES (Continued)
(d) Share option reserve

The fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period with a corresponding increase in the
share option reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest and the impact of the
revision of these estimates, if any, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

At the time when the options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve is transferred to the share capital. When the
share options are forfeited or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the share option reserve is transferred to retained
profits.

(e) Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises the
exchange differences arising for the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then shareholder
passed on 27 October 2017, the Company adopted a
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”). The terms of the
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Scheme is a share incentive scheme established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions eligible
participants have made to the Group. The Scheme is valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
date of the adoption of the Scheme, unless terminated
earlier by the shareholders in a general meeting.

27

28

RE M E|RMEE

e (2)

(d) FERRAEGHHE
B PR B HA IR L R 1 2 T (A
HEREENEBAMTE - BRE
fi# 6 AR 22 00 -

RI|BERR REBEETHEHRNE
AFERARFEBOBRIERE MG
MiEaI % B bt rEXRN T E (0
B) R TRBHEESE 2 KA
RPWER - LAEBREREAEL
THIEAEE -

EBEERITRE - 2RI ERRE
FREANSBAERERAN - BB
P HOR WS = fE i B B R ETT
- 2AEBRERBERNTHE
BEEREER

() ERME
B R B R R BB IR
WRELMEN Z5

UWREREERROAERSRD
X%
BERZE—tF+AZ+EEHERR
RIRBMEERER - AR ARMAERE
T8l ([Zs8l)) - ZeTamiERFa £
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Participants may include: (i) any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to any member of the Group
or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (the “Affiliate”); (i) the trustee
of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to any member
of the Group or an Affiliate; or (i) a company beneficially
owned by any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor
to any member of the Group or an Affiliate.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme was 70,000,000
(2020: 70,000,000 shares), representing 7% (2020: 7%) of
the issued share capital of the Company. The aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company, must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the Listing Date. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of
the Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided
that the total number of the Company’s shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company, must not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of the approval of the refreshed limit.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and which may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period up to the date of the
grant, shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of this
limit must be separately approved by the Company’s
shareholders in a general meeting with such grantee and
his/her close associates abstaining from voting. Any grant
of an option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

S2EETBHE  ((FNEEEMFKE AR
AEERFAEP RGN QB HZRAHIHM
BRABAMEMAES BB - EH - FXA
B 2P fEnm - K2 ABASKN
ASENE ([BBAL]  ((EBEXE
ABREAEBIAKEARNERES -
BE  EBH FXAE - -EF - HER-
RIE - BBA - B AR S R
THEMEERERELNZTEA ¢ k(i)
AEBEAKEARNEAES BB -
BRE - HEAER - -BP - fiEn - RE
BRA - BRATEPEKEBALE R
BAEBRA -

W-ZE-—#+-"A=+—08 " BE%:t
AT (21T A9 AR 19 42 £ 470,000,0000%
(ZZ =4 :70,000,0000%) - HHEHAA
RNABEITRAT% (ZEFF 1 7%) °
BRI Z T8 AR BT H b B A HE A 2
EREMmA FITERNAAE RITEERERE
ITERAIEITHRMDES - & XTSHBI5
ARAIREMBHNBEETRMD10% © 7%
10% PR ATBERF R A R AR AR K g
RO FAER - EREBEZTEIRAR
AT B R AT B SR A AT B AR
EREITERA] TRITHARRRM B -
TNMESHBARNRIREE T LREREBH
FEETTIRID10% °

REFMEASENEERHBEH - £
o] 1B Bl A £ 23R B2 m] JE 35 60 B LA AT K
MEBITREETHORMEE - TEEB
ARADHITRMDAI1% » BB ERE
EBEREE — PR DASIMNERAR
AIRRERRAE L& - MARBARA
REETHBEAANERER - AARAE
E TBABHTERR (REREXAN
EBEA) ZREEABERE  BALHE
MIEHITESE (T RES SEREARA
MEMELIFAITES) Lk -
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Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of
the Company or an independent non-executive Director
(or any of their respective associates) will result in the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such
person under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue and having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders
at a general meeting of the Company, with voting to be
taken by way of a poll.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares,
the eligible participant shall pay HK$1 to the Company
as consideration for the grant. The subscription price of
a share subject to options granted under the Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of:

() the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the option; and

(i)  The average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the grant of the option.

Options granted are exercisable after three years but not
exceeding ten years from the date of the grant.

As approved by the Board and consented by the option
holders, all outstanding share options granted under
the Scheme, being an aggregate of 28,400,000 share
options, were cancelled with effect from 21 January
2020 in accordance with the terms of the Scheme. No
compensation was payable to the option holders for the
cancellation of the share options. The amount previously
recognised in share option reserve was transferred to
retained profits during the year ended 31 December 2020.
Except for the above, no share options were granted,
exercised or lapsed under the Scheme during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

WRAARAEZRRABIIFNTES
(&{&i? EE’JEH FEA) BROEME
Bt EHNEFMIEARERNES
B H EIH (@%EQ B) ZALREZ:E
R AR RE ] Bt S AR A AT B R X S 1
BEHmAEBRE (BREE1TE SEHERk
RRTTE 2 BB E) BITHER B EITRS
BITHRM AR S HBBEHETROK
0.1% - BR\EERFE L A B\ 5l
B & - #2188 385,000,000/8 7T » 8l k-
M — TR OB ARRRERNR AR
RRg bk BAUKREFARR -

REMNTREROD N ERER - 5ERK2
HEBMARRZMABTEARRAEL
BRIE o IBIERZET S LB IRERT S R
BORBEREARESSETL MR EE
HENER TESKLHASERUATHES
x

() BXAEBAMERMATEROREL
E%HxTEHEHE@H&mE F R

(i) BXMEBEBERMARRHNER
BEEREAHNAERLZS AT
BYTE -

PRI RO RE R AT IO ) B AR RT = 1%
BAES+FORMITE -

KEEZSH AT EEREZBEARE R
BB RO E M RITENERE
(BN #8 5128,400,00010 B RE #E) - E 8 =
T-TF—A-+—ARBEZTENE
T LAGESE o SESEREAIE B A M BB AR IS
EAXNEIMEE BE T _TF+=
H Z+—BIEFE - RRTREREREERE

RO SEERETREBETF - B LAtz
&I\ CBE_T - FR-T-TF+_-A
=t+—HIFE  HEEREREZTE
EEE  BfTEKDR -
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No share-based compensation expenses was charged to MEURD RERORMATEEE_Z

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for Z—FF+ZA=+t—BLFENLKER
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$198,000). EWRKRAG (ZFT ZFF : 198,000/8
TT) °
At 31 December 2021, the Group had banking facilities RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H0 ~5H
totalling HK$239,350,000 (2020: HK$270,600,000) granted BEH=ZRRIT(ZE_ZTF ! ZKR
by three banks (2020: three banks). These facilities were 77) A $£239,350,0008 7T (ZE=F
secured by property, plant and equipment of the Group, ¢ 270,600,000/ 7T) 2 RMITELE © 7%
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the EMERAEENYE  BEREZE - K
Group, fixed deposits placed in two banks, and an indemnity ’E @?“‘ﬁ@.ﬁr]\?@ SIRNEMEE 7
for an unlimited amount executed by the Company. RRKIBITHOERFRARBARRRET

RYEEFR BB E (R -

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the NBEH RO HMERELNER
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows: BT
2020
—T_TH
HK$’000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment Y~ WS MR 1,473
The Group has recognised right-of-use assets and AEECOREHERRERESR
lease liabilities for all leases, except for short-term ErHEEE  HTERERBEHL
leases with original lease term of less than one year. R—FREHHEE -
The total future minimum lease payments under non- RIE-_—FR_ZE_FTF+=A
cancellable leases for which no lease liabilities have = Jr —B ETAUHBEL HEZ
been recognised by the Group as at 31 December CAEFETEEREEAGB X
2021 and 2020 are as follows: Xwﬁﬂﬁﬁ RAQFELAT -
2020
—T_THF
HK$’000
FAET
Within one year —F RN 59
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

31 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31 RE&RERMNET
BREAISANEEEELE R EHIR

(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a)
generated from operations:

2021 2020
— —_ZTEH
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
Cash flows from operating activities RETBMEHESRE
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATISHAT (Eﬁﬁ)/rﬁﬂ (15,495) 37,695
Adjustments for: YIS IR
Interest income FEWA (66) (874)
Investment income BEBA (331) (139)
Amortisation of insurance expense R FE > 45 33 33
Depreciation for property, plant and WE - BERRETE
equipment 12,027 11,487
Depreciation for right-of-use assets CREEENE 8,826 8,602
Equity-settled share based payment ARz E R A
expense R AREX = 198
Finance costs AR 6,909 7,324

COVID-19 related rent concessions HCOVID-195 M & B (4) -
Gain on lease modification HEBTWa (5) -

Annual Report 2021 FfE &

Gain on derivative financial instruments TEeRT AR (786) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEVME BEM
equipment HiEEE 29 282
Provision for impairment loss on trade 2 5 W IE R E
receivables EiRRE = 514
Provision for impairment loss on FEREBERE
inventories 5,252 2,912
Obsolete inventories written off BREFEME 375 1,997
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at & A F(EEH ABRHEN
fair value through profit or loss CTREENATE
B1E(E) 515 (356)
Bad debt written off R = 985
Operating profit before working capital HEESEHIH .
changes ST A 17,279 70,660 =
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (gm),/hd (116,425) 7,255 L
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 R EAMEKFIE j i
receivables w3 ) 12,460 (27,908) 2
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment and i‘ﬁﬁ A RIS 5
deposits FA,(3E) 6,261 (10,915) 3
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H A A FRIEE AN 40,359 11,280
Increase in contract liabilities BREEEM 41,917 489
Net cash generated from operations KEMEHREFHE 1,851 50,861
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

31 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 31 R&RERMTE (&)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) RMETBELZBEHER:
activities:
Borrowings
(excluding Finance
Lease Interest lease
liabilities payables) payable Total
EE S
(TBfE BERE
HESE ERFIE) ERTE h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZE-Z5-F-R&H 23,089 11,011 43 34,143
Cash flows Bein
- Inflow from financing activities -BEEBRSMA - 10,000 - 10,000
- Qutflow from financing activities -RETBES L (7,937 (12,259) (43) (20,239)
- Qutflow from operating activities -BEEHEET (1,027) (298) - (1,325)
Non-cash changes FHL#
Interest expense FEZH 1,027 298 - 1,325
Exchange differences ERES 231 ©) - 229
Other non-cash items HibFE SR 9,929 - - 9,929
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-B-E£+-A=1+-H
and 1 January 2021 R-E--E-F-BHER 25,312 8,750 - 34,062
Cash flows BeR
- Inflow from financing activities -RETHEETA - 18,000 - 18,000
- Qutflow from financing activities -BETHELRL (9,159) (16,333) - (25,492)
- Outflow from operating activities -MEEHRL T (539) (17) = (710)
Non-cash changes FHL Y
Interest expense FETH 539 171 - 710
Exchange differences ERESR (477) 21 = (456)
Other non-cash items B3 FEeEE 422 - - 422
Balance at 31 December 2021 R-E--E+-fA=+-H

iFets 16,098 10,438 - 26,536
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Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed
in this note. Save for those disclosed elsewhere in this
consolidated financial statements, details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed
below:

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transaction with the related party:

ARAREEMBRARZENRZEREGA
AR B B S8 T 30 B AP SR IR ER o BRAR
mEMBHRREMBORENRATIN - K
S E A RN 5 2 TR 5 R 15 H ER 0
T

FR - REEERB R ZUATR
5

2020

—T_TF

Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000
e XEME FET
The spouse of one of the controlling Consultancy fees (note i) -

shareholders of the Company
AREHEpP —BERBRO RS wAER (M)

The fees paid to the related party are made on normal
commercial terms and conditions.

Note:

(i) The consultancy fee in the amount of HK$1,916,000
was paid to the relevant person after he became a
related party of the Group, pursuant to a consultancy
agreement that had been entered into before the
relevant person became a related party of the Group.
Such consultancy agreement constituted a de minimis
continuing connected transaction pursuant to Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules. Remaining consultancy
fee in the amount of HK$827,000 was under a
consultancy agreement which constituted a continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules (the “Continuing Connected
Transaction”). Further details of the Continuing
Connected Transaction are provided in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” in the
Report of the Directors as set out in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Members of key management during the year
comprised the Directors only whose remuneration
is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ENEBETNERIZLER XK
ABARIFE -

(i) R E 1,916,000/ T 2 AR E 48
AL ABAEBRE A2
Bt REKARNEEBE S
BN TRBAAL - RIFLETHR
BIE14A76(1) K - ZAB A HE
REASREREKEZHERER
5 o #h Nk B F827,000/8 T A
BRETRBNEI4ABRATE 2
BEEER D ((BEBEXS])) 2
BHABE T ZER - HEHERS
ZHE—SHBIRARRBEE-Z
T+ A=F+—BHULEFEZF
EREMH2ESTRE [HHEH
ERH | —f-

REAFETEEREKNEERRS
EIIN R A MR FICES
PAEAX ©
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2020

—ETHF
Note HK$’000
it FET
Assets EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RB AR MIEE 19 145,182
Right-of-use asset CREEE 142
Financial assets at fair value through BAFER AERE
profit or loss HoRVEE 5,038
Amount due from a subsidiary 3 e L NG| 86,537
236,899
Current assets REEE
Dividend receivables eI A% B 12,000
Prepayments and deposits FENFIERES 377
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B 2 B 3R I8 1,751
Tax recoverable BIEE 632
Bank and cash balances RTINS ER 62,388
77,148
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAFER IR 2,898
Lease liabilities — current HEEE—RD 155
3,053
Net current assets REBEEFE 74,095
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABAERE 310,994
Net assets EEZFRE 310,994
Equity =
Share capital P& X 26 281,507
Reserve 1 (a) 29,487
Total equity R 310,994

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2022 and

was signed on its behalf

Lai Yiu Wah
HyEE
Director

EBEFE

Tai Leung Lam
BR M
Director

EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEmRME

Reserve movement of the Company

(%)

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONAND 33 AXATGHBURAREEEE B
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(a) FLQFRFEEH

Share
options Retained
reserve profits Total
BRERE REHER @gt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
ik FET F#r FHET __ =
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-TF
+-A=+—8 - 29,487 29,487
Profit for the year FRR A - 1,200 1,200
Dividend paid BERERE 13 - (12,000) (12,000)
At 31 December 2021 R-TE-—%F
+-A=+—H - 18,687 18,687
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF
+-A=+—8 7,039 16,550 23,589
Profit for the year F R F - 21,700 21,700
Equity-settled share-based A4 HE MR
transaction RERNZORS 28 198 - 198
Cancellation of share options 5T #4588 Bk (7,237) 7,237 -
Dividend paid BERERE - (16,000) (16,000)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-TF
+-A=+—8 - 29,487 29,487

|
SININTLVLS TVIONVNIL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRMEE

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December 2021

34 &RTHE —RERE
R-E-_—%+=ZHA=+—H

Financial

Financial assets at fair

assets value through

at amortised the profit or
cost loss Total

RE S R AR EAYE

FTERN FFABRER
SREE HemEE Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEITL FEIT FET

Financial assets at fair value BAFERTABRED

through the profit or loss SREE - 12,166 12,166
Trade and other receivables B 5 kHA I FRIE 172,239 = 172,239
Deposits e 15,303 - 15,303
Restricted bank deposits ZRREIERITIERR 6,140 - 6,140
Bank and cash balances RIT MRS 62,790 - 62,790
Total et 256,472 12,166 268,638

Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost Total

12 8 85 AR A

FTEWN
tREE #at
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A FERFIR 160,506 160,506
Borrowings EEN 10,438 10,438
Lease liabilities HERE 16,098 16,098
Total HEr 187,042 187,042
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As at 31 December 2020 R-ZB-ZBHF+=-H=+—H
Financial
Financial assets at fair
assets value through
at amortised the profit or
cost loss Total
R R A RATHE
FTEM FABRE
tRMEE HemEE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FEIT FEIT
Financial assets at fair value BEATEE ABREED
through the profit or loss SREE - 13,854 13,854
Trade and other receivables B RHEAEWKIE 183,044 - 183,044
Deposits e 12,776 - 12,776
Restricted bank deposits ZRRHIRITF R 6,139 - 6,139
Bank and cash balances IRIT MR Hek 99,216 - 99,216
Total 5T 301,175 13,854 315,029
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
R A
FEZ
A= =R st
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT
Trade and other payables B5 N EMENRIE 118,074 118,074
Borrowings RN 8,750 8,750
Lease liabilities HEEE 25,312 25,312
Total HRET 152,136 152,136
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities RZBZ—F+A=+—80 " AEEL

as at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

BIMNEAXRAE(ZT_FTF ) -
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=1+—-HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017
ZZRZ%F ZE-NEF ZT-N\F ZT—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Results £
Revenue & 701,699 808,599 885,971 788,042
(Loss)/profit before income tax K Fr{SE AT (E12), A 37,695 24,311 49,639 87,148
Income tax credit/(expense) Fiisfise / (Ax) (8,814) (1,954) (7,261) (17,140
(Loss)/profit for the year ER (B8),/ %F 28,881 22,357 42,378 70,008
Attributable to: A -
Owners of the Company ERREBA 28,881 22,357 42,378 70,008
As at 31 December
R+t=BA=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017
ZERZ%F ZE-hEF ZT-N\F ZT—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEr FEr FET FET
Assets and liabilities EENEE
Total assets BE®RE 543,717 515,235 573,573 524,736
Total liabilities BEGE (178,912)  (162,744) (221,678) (192,172)
Net assets BESE 364,805 352,491 351,895 332,564
Equity attributable to owners ZA/NCIEZZE N
of the Company iR 364,805 352,491 351,895 332,564
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POWERING THE WORLD
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Trio Industrial Electronics Group Limited

BETRETFREBRLF

Block J, 5/F., Phase I, Kaiser Estate, 51 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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www.trio-ieg.com
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